# Teach Secondary





# Teach Secondary

# **OBSERVER MANUAL**



© 2023 International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank 1818 H Street NW, Washington, DC 20433 Telephone: 202-473-1000; Internet: www.worldbank.org

#### Some rights reserved.

This work is a product of the staff of The World Bank with external contributions. The findings, interpretations, and conclusions expressed in this work do not necessarily reflect the views of The World Bank, its Board of Executive Directors, or the governments they represent. The World Bank does not guarantee the accuracy of the information included in this work. Nothing herein shall constitute or be considered to be a limitation upon or waiver of the privileges and immunities of The World Bank, all of which are specifically reserved.

#### **Rights and Permissions**



This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 IGO license (CC BY 4.0 IGO) https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. Under the Creative Commons Attribution license, you are free to copy, distribute, transmit and adapt this work, including for commercial purposes, under the following conditions:

Any and all disputes arising under this License that cannot be settled amicably shall be submitted to mediation in accordance with the WIPO Mediation Rules in effect at the time the work was published. If the request for mediation is not resolved within forty-five (45) days of the request, either You or the Licensor may, pursuant to a notice of arbitration communicated by reasonable means to the other party refer the dispute to final and binding arbitration to be conducted in accordance with UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules as then in force. The arbitral tribunal shall consist of a sole arbitrator and the language of the proceedings shall be English unless otherwise agreed. The place of arbitration shall be where the Licensor has its headquarters. The arbitral proceedings shall be conducted remotely (e.g., via telephone conference or written submissions) whenever practicable, or held at the World Bank headquarters in Washington, DC.

Attribution – Please cite the work as follows: World Bank. (2023). Teach Secondary. Washington, DC: The World Bank. License: Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 IGO.

**Translations** – If you create a translation of this work, please add the following disclaimer along with the attribution: *This translation was not created by The World Bank and should not be considered an official World Bank translation. The World Bank shall not be liable for any content or error in this translation.* 

**Adaptations** – If you create an adaptation of this work, please add the following disclaimer along with the attribution: *This is an adaptation of an original work by The World Bank. Views and opinions expressed in the adaptation are the sole responsibility of the author or authors of the adaptation and are not endorsed by The World Bank. The Teach Manual is intended for use in classroom observations and is not for sale.* 

**Third-party content** – The World Bank does not necessarily own each component of the content contained within the work. The World Bank therefore does not warrant that the use of any third party-owned individual component or part contained in the work will not infringe on the rights of those third parties. The risk of claims resulting from such infringement rests solely with you. If you wish to reuse a component of the work, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright owner. Examples of components can include, but are not limited to, tables, figures, or images.

All queries on rights and licenses should be addressed to Teach, The World Bank Group, 1818 H Street NW, Washington, DC 20433, USA; e-mail: teach@worldbank.org.

Cover and interior design: Danielle Willis, Washington, DC, USA

# Teach Secondary

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

TEACH SECONDARY TEAM	iv
INTRODUCTION	1
PROCEDURES FOR CODING	
OBSERVER MANUAL	
TIME ON TASK	
TIME ON LEARNING	17

#### QUALITY OF TEACHING PRACTICES

CLASSROOM CULTURE	19
SUPPORTIVE LEARNING ENVIRONMENT	20
POSITIVE BEHAVIORAL EXPECTATIONS	22

INSTRUCTION	23
LESSON FACILITATION	24
CHECKS FOR UNDERSTANDING	25
FEEDBACK	26
CRITICAL THINKING	27

SOCIOEMOTIONAL SKILLS	30
AUTONOMY	
PERSEVERANCE	32
SOCIAL & COLLABORATIVE SKILLS	

CHECKLIST: OTHER ASPECTS OF EDUCATIONAL QUALITY	34
FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS	

# **TEACH SECONDARY TEAM**

## Acknowledgments

*Teach Secondary* was prepared by a team led by Ezequiel Molina and Emma Carter. The core team was composed of Jenny Beth Aloys, Carolina Moreira Vásquez, Gabrielle Arenge, Gill Althia Francis, Maria Tsapali, Diego Luna-Bazaldua, and Estefania Avendano. The team would like to acknowledge the work of other team members that helped develop the framework on which *Teach Secondary* is built for their useful feedback. This includes Adelle Pushparatnam, Tracy Wilichowski, and Carolina Melo Hurtado. We would also like to thank Ana Teresa Del Toro Mijares and Carla Agustina Froy for their guidance and support with the development of *Teach Secondary*. Moreover, we would like to thank Nidhi Singal and the Inclusion Advisory Panel composed of Jo Westbrook, Rabea Malik, and Joshua Josa for their feedback and guidance on revisions to the instrument relating to inclusion.

Sarah Fuller Klyberg was the chief copy editor. The manual and observation instrument were designed by Danielle Willis. Janet Adebo provided administrative support.

The *Teach Secondary* team received guidance from a technical advisory panel composed of Kwame Akyeampong, Lindsay Brown, Daniel Muijs, Herine Otieno-Menya, Albert Paulo Tarmo, and Pauline Rose.

A number of colleagues provided insightful comments, feedback, and inputs on the tool, including Leandro Costa, Heather Hill, Carolina Melo Hurtado, Kenglin Lai, Kesha Lee, Rhiannon Moore, Charlotte Vuyiswa McClain-Nhlapo, Karthika Radhakrishnan-Nair, Sara Rimm-Kaufmann, Andrea Rolla, Caine Rolleston, Anusha Pudugramam Ramakrishnan, Shwetlena Sabarwal, and Bethany Wilinski.

In addition, the team is grateful to the Research for Equitable Access and Learning Centre at the University of Cambridge and Laterite that developed in collaboration with the World Bank's *Teach* team and applied a preliminary version of *Teach Secondary* in secondary mathematics classrooms in Rwanda for the Mastercard Foundation's Leaders in Teaching initiative.<sup>1</sup> The team would particularly like to thank Collins Kweyamba, Ezron Mucyo, and Fabiola Niwenshuti from Laterite for their support with coding and providing feedback on revisions to the tool.

Overall guidance for the development and preparation of *Teach Secondary* was provided by Omar Arias, Practice Manager for the Global Knowledge and Innovation Team. The team acknowledges support from the Global Leads of the Curriculum, Instruction and Assessment Thematic Group; the Teachers Career and Professional Development Thematic Group; and the Inclusive Education Thematic Group for their guidance and advice throughout the process. The team is especially grateful to Jaime Saavedra, Senior Director of the Education Global Practice, for his leadership, direction, and relentless support.

The team is grateful for the generous support provided by Porticus, whose funding via the grant program *Measuring and* supporting effective teaching practices: The development of Teach Secondary and Coach, enabled the development of Teach Secondary.

The team apologizes to anyone inadvertently omitted from this list and expresses its gratitude to all who contributed to *Teach Secondary*, including those whose names may not appear here.

Lastly and most importantly, the team members would like to thank all the teachers who welcomed us into their classroom and supported our observations of their practice as part of this project.

HAVE QUESTIONS? Contact Us at teach@worldbank.org.

# INTRODUCTION

## What does Teach Secondary Measure?

*Teach Secondary*<sup>2</sup> differs from other classroom observation tools in that it captures (i) the time teachers spend on learning, the extent to which students are on task, and whether students are actively participating in learning; (ii) the quality of teaching practices that help develop students' socioemotional and cognitive skills; and (iii) other aspects of the learning environment, such as the accessibility of the physical environment, including classroom setup and available materials.

As part of the **Time on Task component**, three "snapshots" of 1–10 seconds are used to record both the teacher's actions, the number of students who are on task throughout the observation, and if students are actively participating in learning. The **Quality of Teaching Practices component**, on the other hand, is organized into three primary areas: Classroom Culture, Instruction, and Socioemotional Skills<sup>3</sup> (see graphic on page 3). These areas have 9 corresponding elements that point to 29 behaviors. The behaviors are characterized as low, medium, or high, based on the evidence collected during the observation. These behavior scores are translated into a 5-point scale that quantifies teaching practices as captured in a series of two, 15-minute lesson observations.

**CLASSROOM CULTURE:** The teacher creates a culture that is conducive to learning. The focus here is not on the teacher's correction of students' negative behaviors, but rather the extent to which the teacher creates: (i) **a supportive learning environment** by treating all students respectfully, consistently using positive language, responding to students' needs, and both challenging gender and disability stereotypes and not exhibiting gender or disability bias in the classroom; and (ii) **positive behavioral expectations** by setting clear behavioral expectations, acknowledging positive student behavior, and effectively redirecting misbehavior.

**INSTRUCTION:** The teacher instructs in a way that deepens student understanding and encourages critical thinking and analysis. The focus here is not on content-specific methods of instruction, but rather the extent to which the teacher: (i) **facilitates the lesson** by explicitly articulating lesson objectives that are aligned to the learning activity, using multiple forms of representation to explain content, connecting the learning activity to other content knowledge, students' daily lives, or real-world experiences, and by modeling the learning activity through demonstrating or thinking aloud; (ii) does not simply move from one topic to the next but **checks for understanding** by using questions, prompts, or other strategies to determine students' level of understanding, by monitoring students during group and independent work, and by adjusting his/her teaching to the level of students; (iii) **gives feedback** by providing specific comments or prompts to help clarify students' misunderstandings or identify their successes; and (iv) encourages students to **think critically** by asking open-ended questions and providing students with thinking tasks that require them to analyze content actively. Students exhibit critical thinking ability by performing thinking tasks, explaining their thinking, or asking open-ended questions.

**SOCIOEMOTIONAL SKILLS:** The teacher fosters socioemotional skills that encourage students to succeed both inside and outside the classroom. To develop students' social and emotional skills, the teacher: (i) instills **autonomy** by providing students with opportunities to make choices and take on meaningful roles in the classroom, and students exhibit their autonomy by volunteering to participate in classroom activities; (ii) promotes **perseverance** by acknowledging students' efforts, rather than focusing solely on their intelligence or natural abilities, by having a positive attitude toward students' challenges by framing failure and frustrations as part of the learning process, and by encouraging students to set short-and long-term goals; and (iii) fosters **social and collaborative skills** by encouraging collaboration through peer interaction and by promoting interpersonal skills, such as perspective taking, empathizing, emotion regulation, and social problem solving. Students exhibit social and collaborative skills by collaborating with one another through peer interaction.

Finally, *Teach Secondary* is accompanied by a checklist to assess other aspects of the learning environment related to structural quality, including the accessibility of the physical environment and some aspects of classroom setup and available materials, which can be used together with the classroom observation components.

# **TEACH FRAMEWORK**

I

TASK	
	<b>SOCIOEMOTIONAL</b> SKILLS
TIME ON LEARNING	AUTONOMY
(1)	PERSEVERANCE
	SOCIAL & COLLAB
	ORATIVE SKILLS

## How was Teach Secondary Developed?

To finalize a working version of the tool, the *Teach Secondary* development team rigorously researched, revised, and piloted different iterations of the tool over a 2-year timeframe.

The development of *Teach Secondary* began with testing an adapted version of *Teach*, developed by researchers at the Research for Equitable Access and Learning (REAL) Centre and Laterite in collaboration with the World Bank's *Teach* team, within 103 secondary mathematics classrooms in Rwanda as part of the Mastercard Foundation's Leaders in Teaching initiative.<sup>4</sup> Revisions at this stage were limited to behavior examples, rather than the tool's core framework, and largely focused on the subject of mathematics due to the focus of the research. Based on this preliminary work, researchers from the REAL Centre joined as consultants with the *Teach* team to support further development of *Teach Secondary* for broader application across subjects and contexts.

The development team <u>reviewed the theoretical and empirical evidence</u> from low- and middle-income countries to further assess both the relevance of the existing *Teach* framework to the secondary level and additional classroom practices that were applicable to this stage of schooling but not captured in the existing tool. This review also included in-depth analyses of existing observation protocols that had been applied in secondary classrooms, with a focus on those used in the Global South. This review was complemented by in-depth discussions with academics and education practitioners, including those specialized in inclusive education, who provided invaluable feedback on the extent to which *Teach* was relevant to secondary school contexts and needed revision to improve its applicability to this stage of schooling. This process led to further changes to the tool and resulted in an extended framework of 10 elements and 34 behaviors.

This extended framework comprised the first working version of the *Teach Secondary* tool, which aimed to capture both the quality and frequency of teaching practices as measured by each element. This preliminary tool was then sent for internal review, a process involving numerous *Teach* colleagues who were instrumental in the development of the original observation protocol and its adaptation to other levels of schooling. This process led to further revisions and constructive discussions on changes to *Teach Secondary* that might also complement other versions of the tool.

The preliminary *Teach Secondary* tool was piloted through classroom video footage in Uganda, Tanzania, and Guyana. From these pilots, the team learned that several of the new behaviors had to be reworked due to coding challenges with establishing reliability and/or distinguishing practices from existing behaviors. This discovery led to a dynamic process of revision in which edits to behaviors and approaches to scoring were discussed, adapted, and tested to obtain clarity and reliability. When this outcome could not be achieved, items were omitted from the instrument. This process resulted in a tool comprised of 10 elements and 32 behaviors.

The development team convened a technical advisory panel, including Kwame Akyeampong, Lindsay Brown, Daniel Muijs, Herine Otieno-Menya, Albert Paulo Tarmo, and Pauline Rose, to provide written feedback on the tool. Their comments were compiled and addressed as part of a technical workshop, during which the experts clarified feedback points and advised the team on which issues to prioritize and how to incorporate the comments to further improve the tool.

# PROCEDURES FOR CODING

#### **Protocol**

Before, during, and after an observation, observers should be cognizant and respectful of the school environment by following this protocol.

#### BEFORE

#### SUPPLIES:

Ensure you have the manual, observation packet, a pencil or pen, consent forms,<sup>5</sup> and a watch or phone.

#### ARRIVAL:

*Introduce yourself* to the principal and arrive at the designated classroom at least 10 minutes before class begins.

*Introduce yourself* to the teacher, explain the purpose of the visit, and remind the teacher of the confidential nature of the observation:

"Good morning, Mr./Ms. [teacher's surname], I work with [affiliate organization]. Your school has been randomly selected for a survey that includes classroom observations. The purpose of the survey is to learn about teaching practices in [district/city name]. As such, I'm here simply to learn from you—these observations will not be used for evaluative purposes, and your identity will remain entirely confidential. Please proceed with the lesson as you normally would."

#### DISSENT:

If a teacher does not want to be observed, remind the teacher that the observation is not an evaluation, his/her identity will be kept anonymous, and no observation information will be shared with school authorities. A teacher cannot be forced to be observed. If the teacher declines consent, exit the classroom and document what happened on the observation sheet.

CHECKLIST (If applicable):

Complete the "Fill in before the classroom observation" section.

*Inform the teacher* that you will have a checklist to fill out when class ends. Ask him/her to notify the students they must stay after class and follow your instructions.

#### DURING

#### SETUP.

*Sit toward the back* of the classroom to view the entire classroom; ensure your presence does not block students' view of the lesson.

*If visiting a classroom with another observer,* seat yourself separately and refrain from talking with the other observer at any point during the lesson.

*Ensure your cellphone is muted* and abstain from texting, phone calls, Facebook/Twitter, taking photos, and other distracting activities.

#### **OBSERVATION:**

*Begin the observation* when class is scheduled to begin; if the teacher is delayed, wait until the teacher arrives and record the time on the observation sheet.

In the case of *multigrade classrooms*, treat the observation as one grade and document it on the observation sheet.

#### NO INTERACTION:

Avoid engaging with or distracting the students or teacher and do not participate in classroom activities, even if explicitly asked.

*Do not check* students' textbooks, worksheets, notebooks, or other classwork.

Avoid positive or negative nonverbal expressions and convey a neutral attitude to avoid inadvertently distracting the teacher.

*Redirect* the teacher and students to the lesson if they ask questions or focus their attention on your presence.

#### AFTER

#### CONCLUSION:

*Thank the teacher* for being able to conduct the observation.

When the second observation concludes, remain silently in the classroom and finish coding without distractions.

#### **DISCRETION:**

Avoid discussing any of the scores with the teacher. If a teacher asks about his/her performance, politely remind the teacher that this observation is not a performance evaluation. For example:

"The goal of the observation was to learn about teaching practices; the notes from this observation will be used as part of a larger study on teaching practices in [district/city name]. I very much enjoyed watching your lesson and appreciate your allowing me into your classroom."

*Refrain from discussing the classroom scores* with anyone. You can provide your supervisor's number if the teacher insists.

*Refrain from discussing what occurred* during the lesson in a joking or disrespectful way.

This behavior may affect your credibility as an observer.

CHECKLIST (If applicable):

Complete the "Fill in after the observation" section.

With the assistance of the teacher, ask necessary questions such as "how many students have a pencil" and count. If you finish coding the second observation before the class is over you may begin other aspects of the checklist provided you are silent and not a distraction (standing up, moving around the classroom, etc.).

## Length of the Observation

Observations should be divided into two, 15-minute segments.<sup>6</sup> The first observation segment begins at the scheduled class time, but if the teacher or students are not present during the scheduled class time or the lesson is delayed, the observation begins when the teacher enters the classroom. After each 15-minute observation, observers should spend 10-15 minutes scoring the observation, depending on the length of the class. For example, in a 45-minute class, the first observation segment begins at the scheduled class time and is 15 minutes in length. The observer then stops (even though class is still going) and spends the next 15 minutes scoring segment 1. The observer then spends the remaining 15 minutes of class observing segment 2. After the class has concluded, the observer spends another 15 minutes scoring segment 2. Observers should always record the length of each observation segment on the scoring sheet. If the lesson ends before the predetermined length of the observation, observers should still code the segment. It is important to accurately record the information on segment length, delayed starts, and early finishes, as this information will be used in data analysis.

#### **Note-Taking**

Once the observation begins, the observer uses the note-taking form to document what the teacher says by noting specific behaviors, questions, instructions, and actions. These notes are essential to code objectively and reliably since they provide evidence for the chosen scores. When note-taking, it is important to be as descriptive as possible. Observers will use their notes and compare them with the descriptions in the manual to determine the behavior quality ranges and assign an overall combined score for each element. As soon as observers finish an observation, every score should be justified with evidence from the observation.

When note-taking, it is important to look for specific student and teacher behaviors that are clearly included in the tool. All observers should create a note-taking system that works for them; below are some helpful note-taking techniques.<sup>7</sup>

TECHNIQUE	WHAT IS OBSERVED	WHAT IS WRITTEN
SCRIPTING: quotes by teachers (T) or students (S)	After a lesson on exponential numbers, the teacher asks students to relate the current lesson to a previous one by asking them to calculate a number to the power of 3. She asks, "Who can apply the rule we learned yesterday to calculate 3 to the power of 3?" A student raises her hand and responds, "3 to the power of 3 is the same as 3 x 3 x 3. So the answer is 27."	T: Who can apply rule from yesterday to calculate 3 to the power of 3? S: This is the same as 3 x 3 x 3=27.
TALLIES: shortcuts for frequently used words or phrases	Throughout the lesson, the teacher says "very good" eight times in response to student participation and answers.	"Very good" √√√√√√√
SHORTHAND: specific symbols or letters to represent behaviors	The teacher checks a student's solution to a mathematical equation and provides feedback by saying, "Great job on solving this equation. You remembered the order of operations well."	<b>FB-</b> T: Remembered order of operations.
ANECDOTES: summaries of what was seen or heard	At the start of an activity, the teacher asks if everyone has a textbook. Six students raise their hands to indicate they do not. The teacher continues teaching at the board. Meanwhile, three students are playing with a ball of paper and distracting others.	6 Ss no book, T cont. teaching at board, 3 Ss playing (disruptive).

The Teach tool is composed of the observer manual and the observation sheet; observers should actively use and read the manual to determine scores.

#### **Measuring Time on Task**

For the Time on Learning element, observers will take three "snapshots," or 1–10 second scans of the classroom, and use only information gathered during the snapshot to code the behaviors. For the first behavior, observers will record whether the teacher is providing a learning activity for most students by indicating "no" if the teacher is not providing a learning activity and "yes" if the teacher is. If the teacher is providing a learning activity, scan the classroom from left to right to determine whether students are on task and actively participating. If 0 or 1 student is off task, score the second behavior high (H). If 2 to 5 students are off task, score it medium (M). If 6 or more students are off task, score it a low (L). If over two-thirds of the class are actively participating in learning, score the third behavior as "yes." If the teacher does not provide a learning activity for most students, record a "not applicable" (N/A) for the second and third behavior and continue coding the other elements of the tool. See page 17 for more details on the snapshot method and how to code this element.

0.	TIME ON LEARNING	1st Snapshot (4m)				2 <sup>nd</sup> Sna	apshot	(9m)		3 <sup>rd</sup> Snapshot (14m)			
0.1	Teacher provides learning activity to most students		Y N			Y		Ν		Y		Ν	
0.2	Students are on task	N/A	L	(M)	Н	N/A	L	М	Н	N/A	L	М	Н
0.3	Students are actively participating in learning tasks	N/A	Y	$\neg$	Ν	N/A	Y		Ν	N/A	Y		Ν

## **Measuring Quality of Teaching Practices**

#### (i) Assigning quality ranges to each behavior

To assign the most objective score, the manual describes each behavior in three quality ranges: low, medium, and high. Each behavior includes a detailed description and examples that help observers decide which quality score best applies to each element. After the first observation segment concludes, the observer assigns a low, medium, or high rating to each behavior. To rate accurately, it is necessary to read the observer notes and compare them with the descriptions in the manual. It is very important for observers to adhere to the manual as closely as possible, whether or not they agree with it. This symbol ⑦ signifies that the given behavior has a corresponding FAQ; observers should thoroughly familiarize themselves with the FAQs prior to carrying out observations and refer to the FAQs while coding to help clarify any confusion.

It is very important that observers give one score for every behavior. If observers want to change an answer, they must clearly remove the invalid score by fully erasing or striking through it. Some behaviors may not be observed. For those behaviors, the manual provides the option to write "N/A." Observers can only score N/A if presented the option on the scoring sheet (behaviors 0.2, 0.3, 1.3, 1.4, 4.2). If a behavior is scored N/A, this behavior should not influence the overall score for the corresponding element. The following example shows what changing an answer and using an N/A score would look like in practice:

4.	CHECKS FOR UNDERSTANDING	1	2	3	4	5		
4.1	The teacher uses questions, prompts or other strategies to determine students' level of understanding		L		(M)		Н	
4.2	The teacher monitors most students during independent/group work	(N/A)	L		М		н	
4.3	The teacher adjusts teaching to the level of students		L		M		H	

#### (ii) Assigning scores to each element

After assigning quality ranges to the behaviors, the element scores should be determined according to the overall quality of each element. Scores range from 1 to 5, with 1 being the lowest score and 5 the highest. It is necessary to carefully read the descriptions for the different behavior levels and assign an element score that best describes the observed scenario in the classroom. While the final score should follow the calculated scores from the behaviors, observers should always go back and reread the element description and its corresponding behaviors to determine if the score fits the overall description of the element. For example, observers may score an element a 4 even if it contains high, medium, and low behavior scores if what was observed exceeds the overall medium description but does not meet a high description. The final score need not be a mathematical calculation, and it should reflect the evidence presented in the entire segment.

2.	POSITIVE BEHAVIORIAL EXPECTATIONS	1	2 3	(4) 5	4
2.1	The teacher sets clear behavioral expectations for classroom activities	L	М	(H)	H
2.2	The teacher acknowledges positive student behavior	(L)	М	H	L
2.3	The teacher redirects misbehavior and focuses on an expected behavior, rather than the undesired behavior	L	M	Н	м

#### (iii) Assigning scores for behavior 1.4

After assigning a low, medium, or high quality rating for the sub-behaviors 1.4a and 1.4b separately, an overall quality rating can be decided for behavior 1.4. In determining this overall quality rating, the following guidelines for different sub-behavior rating combinations should be followed:

If both 1.4a and 1.4b are assigned the same quality rating, this rating would constitute the overall quality rating for the behavior. For example, if 1.4a and 1.4b are both assigned a high rating, the overall quality rating for behavior 1.4 would remain as a high rating.

1.4	The teacher does not exhibit bias and challenges stereotypes in the classroom	a. Gender b. Disability	L M H M H Sub-sco	res ⊳ <mark>L</mark>	Determine score ⊳	Ł	М	Н	L
1.4	The teacher does not exhibit bias and challenges stereotypes in the classroom	a. Gender b. Disability	L M H L M H Sub-sco	res ⊳ <mark>M</mark> M	Determine ⊳ score	L	M	Н	м
1.4	The teacher does not exhibit bias and challenges stereotypes in the classroom	a. Gender b. Disability	L M H L M H Sub-sco	res ⊳ <mark>H</mark> H	Determine score ⊳	L	М	H	H

If a low rating were assigned to either 1.4a or 1.4b, the overall rating for the behavior would remain as a low rating, irrespective of the combination. For example, if 1.4b were rated as low, this rating would take precedence in deciding the overall score, even if the rating for 1.4a were rated as medium or high.

1.4	The teacher does not exhibit bias and challenges stereotypes in the classroom	a. Gender b. Disability	L (M) H ↓ M H Sub-scores ▷	M L	Determine score ⊳	Ł	М	Н	L
1.4	The teacher does not exhibit bias and challenges stereotypes in the classroom	a. Gender b. Disability	$ \begin{array}{c c} M & H \\ \hline & M & H \\ \hline & M & H \end{array} $ Sub-scores $\triangleright$ -	L H	Determine score ⊳	L	М	Н	L

If one sub-behavior were rated as high and the other as medium, the high rating would take precedence. For example, if 1.4a were rated as high and 1.4b were rated as medium, the overall behavior score for 1.4 would be high.

			-						
1.4	The teacher does not exhibit bias and	a. Gender	L M H Sub soores	$\mathcal{M}$	Determine		M	$\bigcirc$	4
1.4	challenges stereotypes in the classroom	b. Disability	L M (H)	H	score	L	IVI	U.	

#### **Common Challenges in Classroom Observations**

Before coding with a classroom observation tool, it is crucial to understand the importance of inter-rater reliability, which describes the degree to which observers agree on the scores associated with a specific observation. For example, an observation is reliable if two observers use the tool to observe the same teacher and arrive at the same (or nearly the same) scores.

Observers should be aware of several challenges that have the potential to adversely affect objectivity and reliability when using the tool to conduct classroom observations:

#### **Personal Experiences**

In some cases, past experiences and personal opinions influence how observers score the rubric. This situation is particularly problematic for people who have preexisting notions of what constitutes "good teaching." Moreover, their exposure to different teaching styles has the potential to influence their reliability. For example, some observers may think, "When I went to school, this is how we learned," or "My daughter's teacher does this." Despite this prior knowledge, it is important to remember that codes must be based solely on the manual, regardless of opinion or experience.

#### **Additional Information**

In some cases, observers adjust their scores based on additional or preexisting information they have regarding the teacher, school, or students. Sometimes, they also assume certain behaviors by incorrectly inferring the teacher's intentions. For example, "I am going to give the teacher a 5 for positive environment, because even though she was impatient with the student, I know it is because she worked a double-shift today." This additional information should not influence the scoring of the observation as codes should solely reflect what happens in the classroom during the allocated observation time.

#### Comparison

Often observers conduct several observations during a short timeframe and compare teaching styles and abilities across observations, which ultimately hinders the reliability of the tool. For example, an observer may rate a teacher lower on a behavior because in an earlier observation, s/he saw the same teacher, or a different teacher, use a better strategy to communicate the same information. To maintain reliability it is necessary to observe each segment independently and avoid comparisons to other situations or teachers.

#### Separation of Elements

In some cases, separating the content of the elements can feel forced since everything that happens in the classroom is interconnected. That is, observers may strongly feel an action falls under more than one element. One observed action can serve as evidence for more than one *Teach Secondary* behavior or element, but the scoring of each must be done independently. For example, a teacher may provide feedback during the lesson so students reflect on their mistakes. This feedback may encourage students to think critically, but this activity does not mean the teacher automatically scores high on the critical thinking element since other behaviors in the critical thinking element may be absent. In this case, observers should keep both elements separate and score them independently.

#### Weighing of Specific Events or First Impressions

In some cases, observers may witness a situation that surprises them or triggers a negative or positive impression. This incident may influence how they assess the entire observation. To maintain reliability, it is important to consider the event in the broader context of the observation and not let first impressions or salient events disproportionately influence the overall score. Therefore, observers should write detailed notes of the observation to determine how much weight to give a specific event.

Additionally, each segment should be considered in and of itself, and observers should focus on what occurs in the current segment. For instance, even if the teacher intends to do an activity later in the class, it is important for observers to score only what actually happens in that segment, rather than boost the score of one of the behaviors based on an intention that never occurred. This approach is particularly applicable for distinguishing what occurs in segment 1 versus segment 2 (i.e., what is observed in segment 1 may not be considered for scoring in segment 2, and vice versa).

#### **Central Tendency**

In some cases, observers assign medium-level scores more often than they should. Reluctance to assign high or low scores occurs (i) when observers are not confident in their ability to identify the appropriate level or believe that high or low scores are very rare and are largely unattainable; or (ii) due to the fear (for themselves or the teacher) of assigning more extreme scores. It is important for observers to score the behaviors exactly as defined in the manual without being influenced by how the scores may be used or how they reflect on the observer or the teacher.

## **Observer Certification and Reliability Exam**

A training participant must pass the *Teach Secondary* Reliability Exam before becoming a certified reliable *Teach Secondary* observer. Observer certification provides quality control and increases reliability of the *Teach Secondary* tool across observers. It ensures all certified observers can use the tool to score classroom observations accurately and consistently and in accordance with the *Teach Secondary* scale. The *Teach Secondary* Reliability Exam consists of watching and scoring three, 15-minute video segments and scoring them according to the *Teach Secondary* rubric. Participants have 15 minutes to code each segment and cannot stop, rewind, or rewatch the videos during the exam. To pass the exam, participants must be reliable on 8 of the 10 elements for each segment. For example, if a prospective observer scores 100 percent on the first segment, 100 percent on the second segment, and 70 percent on the third segment, that participant would not pass the exam. For the Time on Learning element, participants are considered reliable if they are in exact agreement with the master score for 2 out of the 3 snapshots. For all other elements, participants are considered reliable if they score within one point of the master score. Participants who do not pass on the first attempt will be given feedback and allowed one additional opportunity to pass the exam. The second exam will consist of three different videos. Participants who do not pass the second attempt will not be certified as *Teach Secondary* observers. *Teach Secondary* certification is valid for one year.



#### Endnotes

- <sup>1</sup> Emma Carter and Pauline Rose, Teacher Practices in Rwandan Secondary Mathematics Classrooms: Findings from Classroom Observations, Leaders in Teaching Research and Policy Series, March 2021 (Laterite and REAL Centre, University of Cambridge, 2021), DOI; Emma Carter, Ezequiel Molina, Adelle Pushparatnum, and Pauline Rose, "Measuring Teachers' Encouragement of Socioemotional Skills in the Secondary Classroom," in NISSEM Global Briefs, Volume II: Educating for the social, the emotional and the sustainable: Pedagogy, practice and materials, ed. Andy Smart and Margaret Sinclair (NISSEM, 2020), https://nissem.org/NGB2.
- <sup>2</sup> The current version of Teach Secondary will be applied for piloting and revised subsequent to this process.
- <sup>3</sup> It should be noted that it is impossible to draw a clear line between teaching practices linked to academic versus socioemotional learning. Many teaching practices included in common professional teaching frameworks do affect students' socioemotional development, but they are usually thought of in terms of academic rather than socioemotional learning. Explicitly linking teaching practices with socioemotional outcomes in measures used for assessment will serve to increase the salience of students' socioemotional skills to teachers, as well as to other stakeholders and policy makers, thus ensuring a focus on both academic and socioemotional learning in the classroom.
- <sup>4</sup> Carter and Rose, "Teacher practices in Rwandan secondary mathematics classrooms."
- <sup>6</sup> Protocol to enter the classroom may vary from context to context, but it is important to have the necessary approvals in place before arriving at the school.
- <sup>6</sup> These times may differ slightly from context to context.
- <sup>7</sup> Adapted from Jeff Archer et al., Better Feedback for Better Teaching: A Practical Guide to Improving Classroom Observations (San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass, 2016).

# **OBSERVER MANUAL**

# Teach Secondary

## **OBSERVATION SHEET**

SCI	HOOL ID:	TEACHER ID:	CODER ID:	GRADE:	SUBJECT:							SE	SEGMENT 1			
CLA	ASS SIZE: girls	boys	SCHEDULED TIME:	_: to:	ACT	UAL TIN	1E:	:	to	:		SE	GMENT LE	ENGTH:		min
TIME	ON TASK		1													
0.	TIME ON LE	ARNING			1st Sna	pshot (	(4m)		2 <sup>nd</sup> Sn	apshot	: (9m)		3 <sup>rd</sup> Snaj	pshot (	14m)	
0.1	Teacher provid	les learning activity to	most students			Y		N		Y	Í	N		Y	Í	Ν
0.2	Students are o	n task			N/A	L	М	н	N/A	L	М	н	N/A	L	М	н
0.3	Students are a	ctively participating in	learning tasks		N/A	Y		N	N/A	Y		N	N/A	Y		N
QUA	LITY OF TEACH	HING PRACTICES														
Area	reas / Elements / Behaviors Scoring														Final	l Scores
А.	CLASSROO															
1.	SUPPORTIVE LEARNING ENVIRONMENT										2	3	4	5		
1.1	The teacher tre	eats all students respec	ctfully							L		М	Н	ł		
1.2	The teacher us	es positive language v	with students							L		М	Н	1		
1.3	The teacher res	sponds to students' ne	eds					N//	4	L		М	Н	1		
1.4	The teacher do challenges ster	es not exhibit bias and eotypes in the classro	om b. Disability	L M H L M H	res ▷ 🗕		Dete sc	ermine core		L		М	Н	ł		
2.	POSITIVE BE	EHAVIORIAL EXPE	CTATIONS						1		2	3	4	5		
2.1	The teacher se	ts clear behavioral exp	pectations for classroom	activities						L		М	Н	1		
2.2	The teacher ac	knowledges positive s	tudent behavior							L		М	Н	1		
2.3	The teacher rec	lirects misbehavior and	I focuses on an expected	behavior, rather than the un	ndesired	l behav	/ior			L		М	H	1		
в	INSTRUCT	ON														
3	LESSON FAC								1		2	3	4	5		
3.1	The teacher exp	olicitly articulates the ob	piectives of the lesson and	d relates classroom activitie	s to the	objecti	ves			L	_	M	Н	1		
3.2	The teacher ex	plains content using m	ultiple forms of represer	Itation		-				L		M	Н	1		
3.3	3 The teacher makes connections in the lesson that relate to other content knowledge, students' daily lives,									L		М	н	1		
34	or real-world issues									1	_	М				
0.4		odels by demonstrating								L.		IVI		1		
4.	CHECKS FO	R UNDERSTANDIN	NG						1	-	2	3	4	5		
4.1	The teacher us	es questions, prompts	or other strategies to de	etermine students' level of i	understa	anding				L .		M	н			
4.2	The teacher mo	onitors most students o	during independent/grou	p work				N//	4	L .		M	н			
4.3	The teacher ad	justs teaching to the le	evel of students							L		M	H	1		
5.	FEEDBACK								1		2	3	4	5		
5.1	The teacher pro	ovides specific comme	ents or prompts that help	clarify students' misunders	standing	IS				L		М	Н	1		
5.2	The teacher pro	ovides specific comme	ents or prompts that help	identify students' success	es					L		М	H	1		
6.	CRITICAL TH	IINKING							1		2	3	4	5		
6.1	The teacher as	ks open-ended question	ons							L		М	Н	ł		
6.2	The teacher pro	ovides thinking tasks								L		М	н	1		
6.3	Students perfor	rm thinking tasks								L		М	Н	1		
6.4	Students expla	in their thinking to the	teacher or ask open-end	led questions						L		М	H	ł		
C	SOCIOEMO	TIONAL SKILLS														
с. 7	AUTONOMY	HONAL SKILLS							1		2	З	Λ	5		
7.1	The teacher pro	ovides students with cl	hoices							L	2	M	Н	1		
7.2	The teacher pro	ovides students with o	pportunities to take on ro	oles in the classroom						L		M	Н	1		
7.3	The students v	olunteer to participate	in the classroom							L		М	Н	ł		
8.	. PERSEVERANCE							1		2	3	4	5			
8.1	The teacher ac	knowledges students'	efforts							L		М	Н	1		
8.2	8.2 The teacher has a positive attitude toward students' challenges									L		М	н	1		
8.3	8.3 The teacher encourages goal setting									L		М	Н	ł		
9.	SOCIAL & CO	OLLABORATIVE SH	KILLS						1		2	3	4	5		
9.1	The teacher pro	omotes students' colla	boration through peer int	teraction						L	-	M	H	1		
9.2	The teacher pro	omotes students' intern	personal skills							L		М	н	1		
93	Students collaborate with one another through peer interaction									1		М	н	1		

## Teach Secondary

**OBSERVATION NOTES** 

Teacher ID:	SEGMENT 1
0.1	
0.2	
0.3	
11	
1.2	
1.3	
1.4a	
1.4b	
2.1	
2.2	
2.3	
3.1	
3.2	
3.4	
4.1	
4.2	
4.3	
5.1	
5.2	
61	
6.2	
6.3	
6.4	
71	
72	
7.3	
8.1	
8.2	
0.3	
9.1	
9.2	
9.3	

# OBSERVER MANUAL TIME ON TASK

#### TIME ON LEARNING

#### The teacher maximizes time on learning.

The teacher maximizes time on learning by ensuring most students are on task and provided with a learning activity most of the time. This practice can be observed in the classroom through the following behaviors:



<sup>1</sup>Behaviors 0.2 and 0.3 are scored as N/A if the teacher is not teaching or providing a learning activity (i.e., 0.1 is scored N/A).

# OBSERVER MANUALQUALITY OFDESERVER MANUALDESERVER MANUAL</

# CLASSROOM CULTURE

SUPPORTIVE LEARNING ENVIRONMENT POSITIVE BEHAVIORAL EXPECTATIONS



## A.1

#### CLASSROOM CULTURE

#### SUPPORTIVE LEARNING ENVIRONMENT

#### The teacher creates a supportive learning environment.

The teacher creates a classroom environment where students can feel emotionally safe and supported. Moreover, all students feel welcome, as the teacher treats all students respectfully. This practice can be observed in the classroom through the following behaviors:

Score	1	2		3		4	5		
Behavior Quality Range	<b>LOW</b> In this classroom, the teacher is <b>ineffective</b> at creating a supportive learning environment.		In this o <b>somew</b> support	MEDIUM classroom, the teac hat effective at creative learning environ	her is ating a nment.	<b>HIGH</b> In this classroom, the teacher is <b>effective</b> at creating a supportive learning environment.			
1.1 ? The teacher treats all students respectfully	The teacher <b>does not tr</b> <b>students respectfully</b> . For example: The teacher n some students, scold them ridicule them, or use physic to discipline them.	eat all nay yell at , shame/ al punishment	The teacl somewhat For examp students co or ridicule show outw either (e.g. names; sa use greetii or other cu	ner treats all students at respectfully. le: The teacher does not tre lisrespectfully (e.g., does no students), but the teacher or vard signs of respect toward, does not call students by t y "please," "thank you," or "so rgs such as "good morning ulturally relevant signs of res	eat t yell at loes not d students, their orry;" or students" spect).	The teacher <b>treats all students</b> <b>respectfully.</b> For example: The teacher uses students' names; says "please," "thank you," "good morning students," and "sorry," or shows other culturally relevant signs of respect.			
1.2 ? The teacher uses positive language with students	The teacher <b>does not us</b> <b>language</b> in communica students.	The teacl in comm For examp done," "exa infrequent Alternative such as cl relevant si does so in	ner uses <b>some positive</b> l unication with students. <i>ile: The teacher may say "w</i> <i>ctly," or "good," although doo</i> <i>y.</i> <i>ily, the teacher may use ges</i> <i>apping, thumbs up, or other</i> <i>gns of praise, although the t</i> <i>frequently.</i>	language ell es so tures culturally teacher	The teacher <b>consistently uses positive</b> <b>language</b> in communication with students. For example: The teacher consistently uses encouraging phrases such as "Great job!" when students show their work, or "Very good!" or "Let's give Student A a round of applause." Alternatively, the teacher may use gestures such as clapping or other culturally relevant signs of praise. Students may also use encouraging phrases or gestures toward their peers.				
1.3 ? The teacher responds to students' needs <sup>2</sup>	The teacher is not aware of students' needs <u>OR</u> does not address the problem at hand. For example: A student may be upset because of a bad grade, and the teacher ignores the student or is dismissive of the issue (e.g., the teacher tells the student to "get over it" or "pull yourself together"). Alternatively, a student may say to the teacher that s/he is struggling to see the text on the board, and the teacher ignores the student's comment and carries on with the lesson.		The teach but may hand. For examp of a bad g the studen student in her grade. speak with therefore n Alternative that s/he i board, and he needs t next time.	her responds to student not address the problem le: A student may be upset ade. The teacher notices ar t if there is a problem, after dicates that s/he is upset w The teacher then asks the s the teacher about it at ano to addressing the problem ly, a student may say to the s struggling to see the text the teacher tells the studer o remember to sit closer to	ts' needs n at because nd asks which the vith his/ student to ther time, at hand. e teacher on the nt that s/ the front	The teacher promptly responds to students' needs in a way that specifically addresses the problem at hand. For example: A student may be upset because of a bad grade. The teacher notices and asks the student if there is a problem, after which the student indicates that s/he is upset with his/her grade. The teacher then speaks quietly with the student at his/her desk, which appears to calm the student and resolve the issue. Alternatively, a student may be struggling to see written instructions on the board, so the teacher rewrites it in larger text and/or provides an alternative way for the student to access the information (e.g., on a separate sheet or orally).			

<sup>2</sup> This behavior is scored as N/A if there are no observable emotional, material, or physical needs.

A.1 continued

#### CLASSROOM CULTURE

SUPPORTIVE LEARNING ENVIRONMENT

#### The teacher creates a supportive learning environment.

The teacher creates a classroom environment where students can feel emotionally safe and supported. Moreover, all students feel welcome, as the teacher treats all students respectfully. This practice can be observed in the classroom through the following behaviors:

Score	re 1 2			3		4 5			
Behavior	LOW	1		MEDIUM		H	ligh		
Quality Range	In this classroom, t is <b>ineffective</b> at cre a supportive learnin environment.	In this is <b>som</b> creatir enviro	classroom, the tea <b>ewhat effective</b> at ng a supportive lea nment.	acher rning	In this classroom, the teacher is <b>effective</b> at creating a supportive learning environment.				
1.4 ? The teacher does not exhibit bias and challenges stereotypes in the classroom	The teacher <b>exhibits bia</b> stereotypes in the class	The teacher <b>exhibits bias or reinforces</b> stereotypes in the classroom.			ias but s either.	The teacher <b>does not exhibit bias</b> <u>AND</u> challenges stereotypes in the classroom.			
1.4a Gender³	The teacher could show gender bias by providing students with unequal opportunities to participate in classroom activities or by expressing unequal expectations for students' behaviors or capabilities. For example: A teacher calls only on boys or girls to answer difficult questions. Alternatively, the teacher calls equally on students of all genders to answer difficult questions but only assigns girls to clean the blackboard or hand out learning materials (e.g., textbooks) to the class. Other examples of gender bias are teachers scolding boys but not girls after incorrectly answering a question or misbehaving. Teachers may also give praise to girls but not boys after correctly answering a question.		The tead genders particips similar e For exam genders i praises b answerin The teacl blackboa (e.g., text	cher provides students with equal opportunitii ate in the classroom an expectations for all stud ple: The teacher calls equa to answer difficult question of the bys and girls after co g questions. her asks boys and girls to of and distribute learning r books) to the class.	of all es to d has Jents. ally on all as and rrectly clean the materials	The teacher provides students of all genders with equal opportunities to participate in the classroom, has similar expectations for all students, <u>AND</u> challenges gender stereotypes in the classroom. For example: The teacher calls equally on all genders to answer difficult questions and praises both boys and girls after they correctly answer questions. The teacher asks boys and girls to clean the blackboard and distribute learning materials (e.g., textbooks) to the class. The teacher also uses examples and explanations that portray female rather than male scientists, doctors, and astronauts and/ or encourages discussions with students about gender stereotypes and/or gender equality. The teacher may also actively encourage equal participation through comments such as, "Let's hear more from the girls," or "Now that we have heard from a girl, let's hear from a boy."			
1.4b Disability	The teacher may provid unequal opportunities to in learning activities, us terms, or express low ex students' behaviors or o For example: The teacher s with disabilities separately students. The teacher may use stigm about people with disabiliti or express bias towards stu disabilities in the classroom low expectations for their b capabilities.	e students with o participate e stigmatizing kpectations for apabilities. eats students from other natizing terms es, in general, idents with n through hehavior or	The tead ability le to partic similar e For exam- with disa members opportun ask ques learning a Alternativ with disa students	cher provides students vels with equal opportu ipate in the classroom expectations for all stud- ple: The teacher enables s bilities to work with other or a during group work, provid- tites for students with dise tions, and participate in wh activities. rely, the teacher praises st bilities in the same manne in the classroom.	of all unities and has dents. class les biblities to nole class udents r as other	The teacher pro ability levels wit participate in th expectations fo challenges disa classroom. For example: The disabilities work u work <u>AND</u> uses ex that portray peopl important position	vides students of all n equal opportunities to e classroom, has similar ' all students, <u>AND</u> bility stereotypes in the teacher has students with ith others during group 'amples and explanations e with disabilities in ts.		

<sup>3</sup> Bias and stererotypes related to gender and disability can manifest differently according to culture and context. It is essential that these considerations are taken into account when using Teach Secondary and that behavior examples which reflect the local context are used when coding the instrument.

## A.2

#### CLASSROOM CULTURE

#### POSITIVE BEHAVIORAL EXPECTATIONS

#### The teacher promotes positive behavior in the classroom.

The teacher promotes positive behavior by acknowledging students' behavior that meets or exceeds expectations. Moreover, the teacher sets clear behavioral expectations for different parts of the lesson. This practice can be observed in the classroom through the following behaviors:

Score	1 2			3		4	5		
Behavior	LOW	1		MEDIUM			HIGH		
Quality Range	In this classroom, t is <b>ineffective</b> at pro positive behavior.	the teacher omoting	In this c <b>somewl</b> positive	lassroom, the teac <b>nat effective</b> at proi behavior.	her is moting	In this classroom, the teacher is <b>effective</b> at promoting positive behavior.			
2.1 ? The teacher sets clear	The teacher <b>does not s</b> e <b>expectations</b> for classre and/or activities.	<b>et behavioral</b> oom tasks	The teach <b>behaviora</b> tasks and	er sets unclear or supe Il expectations for class /or activities.	e <b>rficial</b> sroom	The teacher = expectations for classroor	sets clear behavioral throughout the lesson n tasks and/or activities.		
behavioral expectations for classroom activities	For example: The teacher s your reading comprehensic providing instruction on wh behavior is for the activity.	ays, "Work on on skills," without at the expected	For example: The teacher says, "Please complete this assessment on your own," or "Let's discuss this as a group and don't talk all at once," without clarifying what such behavior would entail as students complete the activity.			For example: The teacher says, "Please complete this assessment on your own. Keep your eyes on your own work, and do not speak to your neighbor during the assessment," before students begin to work independently. Upon introducing a group activity to the class, the teacher says, "Let's discuss this as a group, and don't talk all at once. Remember to speak one at a time, and to raise your hand if you would like to acativate.			
					Alternatively, the teacher is not observed setting clear behavioral expectations, but <b>students are well- behaved</b> <sup>4</sup> throughout the lesson.				
2.2 The teacher	The teacher <b>does not a</b> <b>student behavior</b> that n exceeds expectations.	cknowledge neets or	The teacher <b>acknowledges some</b> students' behavior but is not specific about their expected behavior.			The teacher positive beh exceeds exp	acknowledges students' avior that meets or ectations.		
acknowledges positive student behavior			For examp expectation working we good job," v	e: If a group is following be ns, the teacher says, "This g Il together," or "This group i vithout clarifying why or ho	For example: If a group is following behavioral expectations, the teacher says, "I like how the students in Group A each shared their different strategies for finding the missing angle while the rest of the group listened and asked questions," "This group paid close attention to each step in the procedure," or "I like how responsibly your group handled the equipment during that experiment."				
2.3 ? The teacher redirects misbehavior and focuses	The teacher's <b>redirectio</b> misbehavior is ineffect focuses on misbehavio on the expected behavio	n of ive and rs rather than or.	The teach is effectiv rather tha Alternativ is somew	The teacher's redirection of misbehavior is effective but focuses on misbehaviors rather than on the expected behavior. Alternatively, redirection of misbehavior			lem arises, the irection of misbehavior ddresses the problem at cuses on the expected		
on an expected behavior, rather than the undesired behavior⁴	<b>bavior,</b> <b>desired</b> For example: If s/he notices a distracted student, the teacher stops lecturing and calls out the name of the student, asking her, "Why are you not paying attention in class?" Alternatively, the teacher continues to ignore the student who is distracted, but the distracted student begins to tease and argue with the peer sitting next to her. This shifts the focus of the entire class away from the lesson and onto those two students.		Is somewhat effective and focuses on the expected behavior. For example: Upon noticing that two students are talking loudly after finishing their partner activity, the teacher says, "You both need to stop talking now, you are making too much noise." This statement focuses on the disruptive students 'negative behavior rather than on what is expected of them. Consequently, the disruptive students quiet down. In another scenario, the teacher redirects the students yeating. "Now that you have finished, can you share your approach for solving the problem with Group A?" Even though the teacher focused on a positive behavior expected from the students, for the most part, they continue to talk loudly to each other when joining Group A.			For example: Upon noticing that two students are talking loudly after finishing their partner activity, the teacher says, "Remember to speak quietly so others can concentrate on their work." Following this direction, the students lower the volume of their voices. In another scenario, the teacher says, "Now that you have finished, can you share your approach for solving the problem with Group A?" Following this request, students stop talking loudly to each other and begin to share their approach with the group next to them. Alternatively, the teacher is not observed redirecting students' behavior, but the <b>students are well-</b>			

<sup>4</sup> A misbehavior occurs when a student causes a disruption in the classroom that either interferes with the flow of the lesson, distracts other students, or upsets the teacher.

# INSTRUCTION

LESSON FACILITATION CHECKS FOR UNDERSTANDING FEEDBACK CRITICAL THINKING



24

#### INSTRUCTION

LESSON FACILITATION

#### The teacher facilitates the lesson to promote comprehension.

The teacher facilitates the lesson to promote comprehension by explicitly articulating the objectives, explaining the content using multiple forms of representation, and connecting the lesson with other content knowledge, students' experiences or real-world issues. This practice can be observed in the classroom through the following behaviors:

Score	1	2		3		4	5		
Behavior Quality Range	<b>LOW</b> In this classroom, the teacher is <b>ineffective</b> in facilitating the lesson to promote comprehension.		In this c is <b>some</b> facilitat compres	<b>MEDIUM</b> classroom, the teacher what effective in ing the lesson to pro hension.	er omote	<b>HIGH</b> In this classroom, the teacher is <b>effective</b> in facilitating the lesson to promote comprehension.			
3.1 ? The teacher explicitly articulates the objectives of the lesson and relates classroom activities to the objectives	The teacher does not stat the board the lesson object can one be inferred from activities. For example: For the entirety students work independently notebooks. Nothing is visible and the teacher spends the c circling and checking studen teacher does not state a less and it is difficult to infer a less from the activities.	te or write on ective(s), nor the lesson of the lesson in their on the board, dass time ts' work. The on objective, son objective	The teach or writes the object or written lesson ac For examplearning ab writing," wit Alternative on finding t does not ex	her either explicitly states a broad lesson objective, tive is not explicitly state (b, but can be inferred from tivities. le: The teacher says, "Today v yout statistics," or "We are foc thout statistics," or "We are foc thout further details. ly, lesson activities may clear the mode of a data set, but th kplicitly articulate the objective	s and/ , <u>OR</u> ed and/ n the we are using on ly focus te teacher re.	The teacher <b>explicitly states and/or writes</b> <b>a specific lesson objective (e.g., a learning</b> <b>goal), and the lesson activities align to the</b> <b>stated objective.</b> For example: Near the beginning of class the teacher states, "Today we are going to learn how to find the mode of a data set." Each lesson activity is clearly related to this objective.			
3.2 ? The teacher explains content using multiple forms of representation	The teacher's <b>explains</b> cc one form of representati content is simply not exp For example: The teacher say area of a circle, multiply pi by of the radius," and does not p or visual representation of th Or in a biology lesson, a teacher explains the function of a min without using any written or of form of representation to fac understanding. Alternatively, the teacher doe any explanation of content.	ontent using on, OR plained. /s, "To find the the square root rovide written is process. her verbally croscope other visual ilitate students' s not provide	The teach forms of r For examp, finding the explains th provides a drawing a c lesson, a te a microsco later points parts of a r	ter explains content using representation. le: While teaching the equatic area of a circle, the teacher v at the radius is "half a circle" visual representation of this l diagram on the board. Or in a pe and its different parts. The to a diagram showing the di nicroscope cell on the board.	g two on for verbally and by biology unction of e teacher ifferent	The teacher <b>explains content using three or</b> <b>more forms of representation</b> . For example: While teaching the equation for finding the area of a circle, the teacher verbally explains and writes on the board that the radius is "half a circle." In addition, the teacher draws a diagram on the board showing the radius of a circle. Or in a biology lesson, a teacher verbally explains the function of a microscope and its different parts. The teacher then demonstrates how to use a microscope using a real-life instrument. Later in the lesson, the teacher points to a diagram of a cell on the board.			
3.3 ? The teacher makes connections in the lesson that relate to other content knowledge, students' daily lives, or real-world issues	The teacher does not connect what is being taught to other content knowledge, students' daily lives, or real-world issues. The teacher may use examples related to other content, students' lives, or real-world issues, but the teacher does not attempt to connect them to the learning activity. For example: During a chemistry lesson, the teacher describes different causes of air pollution but does not relate these to students' daily lives or to real-world issues. Alternatively, the teacher says, "Remember, yesterday we learned how to translate shapes? Today we are going to learn how to find the mode of a data set," without attempting to connect what is being taught to other content knowledge.		The teach the lessor students' but the cc confusion For example teacher des pollution. T from vehicl can cause students' li and nonspe Alternative yesterday v Now we arc set." When teacher doo the previou	her may attempt to conne In to other content knowle daily lives or real-world i onnections are superficia g, or unclear. le: During a chemistry lesson, scribes different causes of air the teacher says, "Exhaust ga les are one cause of air polle les are one cause of air polle ves or real-world issues is su- pecific. ly, the teacher says, "Rememing when we learned how to group e going to find the mode of ou explaining how to find the mode es not relate the process to co is lesson.	ect edge, issues, il, , the r rses tion that tion to perficial ber p data? ur data ode, the ontent in	The teacher meaningfully connects the lesson to other content knowledge, students' daily lives, or real-world issues. For example: During a chemistry lesson, the teacher relates causes of air pollution to students' daily lives and real-world issues. The teacher says, "Exhaust gases from vehicles cause problems in our environment. In our city, diesel smoke pollutes our air, water, and soil." Connections between the lesson and content knowledge, students' daily lives, and/or real-world issues are clear. Alternatively, the teacher connects the lesson to content learned in a prior lesson on statistics by saying, "Remember yesterday when we collected data on what each student had for lunch, and we found the mean of the data? Today we are going to learn how to find the mode. The mode is another summary statistic that represents a typical value in our data set."			
3.4 ? The teacher models by demonstrating or thinking aloud <sup>5</sup>	eacher models         monstrating or         ing aloud <sup>5</sup> The teacher does not model. For example: The teacher spends the entire class lecturing, and there are no procedural activities for the teacher to model, or the teacher assigns individual work but does not model for the students.		The teach activity. For exampl demonstrat not clarify h text to crea lesson, the their addres not model o writing (e.g.	er partially models the lease tes how to draw a bar graph b now the data were extracted fr te the bar graph. Or in a langu teacher shows students how and date in a formal letter b other rules or features of form , use of a greeting).	earning rout does rom the lage arts to write but does al letter	The teacher models the learning activity by demonstrating all parts of the procedure or by demonstrating the procedure and thinking aloud. For example: The teacher shows ways to solve a math problem (demonstrates a procedure) and while doing so, says what they are thinking at each step (thinks aloud). Or if students are calculating the area of a circle, the teacher shows each step (full demonstration of a procedure) with visual diagrams or other local materials and says what they are thinking at each other			

#### INSTRUCTION

#### **CHECKS FOR** UNDERSTANDING

#### The teacher checks for understanding for most students.

The teacher checks for understanding to ensure most students comprehend the lesson content. Moreover, the teacher adjusts the pace of the lesson to provide students with additional learning opportunities. This practice can be observed in the classroom through the following behaviors:

Score	1	2		3		4	5		
Behavior Quality Range	LOW In this classroom, t does not check for student's understan	In this of effectiv student	<b>MEDIUM</b> classroom, the teac e at checking <b>only</b> a s' understanding.	her is <b>a few</b>	HIGH In this classroom, the teacher is effective at checking for <b>most</b> students' understanding.				
4.1 ⑦ The teacher uses questions, prompts, or other strategies to determine students' level of understanding	The teacher does not as or prompt students at a the teacher does so, the responds in synchrony, accepted without further understanding. For example: When explain the teacher asks, "Do you a how to identify a reflex ang respond in unison, "Yes, we teacher inquires, "This is a 1 right?" after drawing an ang The class or an individual s "Yes, it is."	The teach or others si determin of unders For examp give me an few studer group from students tu Alternativ <b>question</b> raise thei allowing si their ansy	The teacher uses questions, prompts, or other strategies that are effective at determining only a few students' level of understanding. For example: The teacher asks, "Who can give me an example of a reflex angle?" Only a few students respond by raising their hand, a group from which the teacher calls on 1 or 2 students to provide an answer. Alternatively, the teacher <b>asks the</b> <b>question but does not ask students to</b> <b>raise their hands in response</b> , instead allowing students to willingly volunteer their answers.			The teacher uses questions, prompts, or other strategies that are effective at determining most students' level of understanding. For example: The teacher says, "Please raise your hand if you agree with this statement: A reflex angle is one that is greater than 180 degrees." The teacher also asks students to demonstrate their knowledge by having all students share their answers (e.g., by having each student share their drawing of a reflex angle).			
4.2 ? The teacher monitors most students during independent/group work <sup>6</sup>	The teacher <b>does not m</b> <b>students</b> when they are independently or in grou For example: The teacher s desk or remains standing in class when students are wo	onitor working ps. its at his/her front of the rking.	The teach when they in groups For examp student wo discussion clarifies co	er monitors some stud y are working independe to check their understa le: The teacher observes so rk for accuracy, listens to s s when students work in gr ncepts, or asks questions.	lents ently or nding. ome some roups,	The teacher <b>systematically monitors</b> <b>most students</b> by circulating the classroom and approaching individual students or groups to check their understanding. For example: When students are working, the teacher walks around the room, systematically approaching students or groups, to observe most students' work, listen to most group discussions, clarify concepts, and/or ask questions.			
4.3 (?) The teacher adjusts teaching to the level of students	The teacher does not adjust teaching for students and continues to follow the curriculum even when students indicate they are unable to keep up. <sup>7</sup>		The teach but this a superficia For examp of equatior decimal nu are not inci- answers. In reminds th in their ans a student t central (ax, struggles t tells the st textbook.	er slightly adjusts teac djustment is brief and al. e: As students complete a is involving multiplication o mbers, the teacher notices uding decimal points in the response, the teacher brie e class to include decimal p wers. Or when a teacher as o explain the function of th al) human skeleton and a s o recall this fact, the teacher ident to refer to a section in	series of they eir fly points sks e student er n their	The teacher <b>substantially adjusts</b> <b>teaching for students</b> by providing students with more opportunities to learn. The teacher may further present information in different ways to help students better understand the concept being taught. The teacher may also provide more challenging tasks for students who already have an advanced understanding. For example: As students complete a series of equations involving multiplication of decimal numbers, the teacher notices they are not including decimal points in their answers. In response, the teacher briefly stops the activity and reviews the process for multiplying decimal numbers before continuing with the activity. Or when a teacher asks a student to explain the function of the central (axia) human skeleton and a student struggles to recall this fact, the teacher notices that a student has already successfully completed the activity, the teacher may give that student another more challenging activity to complete while waiting for the rest of the class.			

<sup>6</sup> This behavior is scored as N/A if there is no observable group or independent work.
<sup>7</sup> Even if there is no perceived need for adjusting, if the teacher does not adjust teaching, this behavior is scored as low.

#### B.5

#### INSTRUCTION

#### **FEEDBACK**

#### The teacher provides feedback to deepen student understanding.

The teacher provides specific comments or prompts<sup>®</sup> to help identify misunderstandings, understand successes, and guide thought processes to promote learning. This practice can be observed in the classroom through the following behaviors:

Score	1	2		3		4	5		
Behavior Quality Range	<b>LOW</b> In this classroom, the teacher is <b>ineffective</b> at providing feedback to deepen students' understanding.		<b>MEDIUM</b> In this classroom, the teacher is <b>somewhat effective</b> at providing feedback to deepen students' understanding.			<b>HIGH</b> In this classroom, the teacher is <b>highly effective</b> at providing feedback to deepen students' understanding.			
5.1 (?) The teacher provides specific comments or prompts that help clarify students' misunderstandings	The teacher either does students with comment about their misundersta the comments provided evaluative statements ( incorrect"). For example: When a studer teacher's question incorrect responds by saying, "That is correct answer," and moves Alternatively, the teacher do acknowledge the student's i answer and moves on to as student by saying, "No, som without providing feedback.	The teach general o prompts a For example says, "You' sign," witho prompts. Ir says, "Rem writing the without exp needed.	The teacher provides students with general or superficial comments/ prompts about their misunderstandings. For example: In a math class, the teacher says, "You forgot to include the negative sign," without providing further information or prompts. In a language arts class, the teacher says, "Remember to use an apostrophe when writing the word 'Let's' in your sentence," without explaining why an apostrophe is needed.			The teacher provides students with specific comments/prompts that contain substantive information that helps clarify students' <i>misunderstandings</i> . For example: In a math class the teacher says, "Do you remember what happens when we multiply a positive and a negative number? Let's look at your notes. Now, let's look at your answer. What do you need to change to find the correct answer?" In a language arts class, the teacher says, "Look at the word 'lets' in your sentence. What does it mean? Do you remember what we need to do when we use contractions? What should you include?"			
5.2 (?) The teacher provides specific comments or prompts that help identify students' successes	2 (?) The teacher provides becific comments prompts that help entify students' accesses The teacher either does not provide students with comments/prompts about their <i>successes</i> , <u>OR</u> the comments provided are simple, evaluative statements (e.g., "That is correct"). For example: When a student answers a teacher's question correctly, the teacher responds by saying, "That is correct," and moves on. Alternatively, the teacher does not acknowledge the student's correct answer and moves onto asking another student a question without providing feedback.		The teacher provides students with general or superficial comments/ prompts about their successes. For example: If students are drawing a bar graph, the teacher says, "Good job on your bar graph," or "Your bar graph is well organized," without specifying what that particular student did well.			The teacher provides students with specific comments/prompts that contain substantive information that helps identify students' successes. For example: If students are drawing a bar graph, the teacher says, "You did a good job on constructing this bar graph. Your horizontal and vertical axes are clearly marked, equally spaced, and correctly labeled." Or the teacher highlights one student's work and says to the class, "Look at the work of your classmate, see how this student used larger intervals on the horizontal axis to have fewer bars?" and then proceeds to explain how the student used larger intervals to more efficiently represent the data.			

<sup>®</sup> Prompts are pieces of information, such as guiding hints or questions, which are given by the teacher and encourage students to think through misunderstandings or identify successes.

#### B.6

#### INSTRUCTION

#### CRITICAL THINKING

#### The teacher builds students' critical thinking skills.

The teacher builds students' critical thinking skills by encouraging them to actively analyze content. This practice can be observed in the classroom through the following behaviors:



#### Thinking Task Table

These examples are intended to help observers decipher what constitutes a thinking task and to differentiate between the quality levels. It is important to note that these examples are not comprehensive. In addition, context and students' learning levels should be weighed considerably when scoring behaviors 6.2 and 6.3.

Language Classes	LOW	MEDIUM	HIGH			
1. Understanding text structure	Students copy an example of a book review in their notebooks.	The teacher explains the structure of a book review and asks students to read an example and identify the different parts (e.g., introduction, body, evaluation, conclusion).	The teacher gives students three different examples of a book review. The teacher then asks students to analyze the common structural features of the reviews (e.g., introduction, body, evaluation, conclusion). Students are then asked to write their own book review following the structure.			
2. Letter writing	The teacher lectures on letter writing and writes on the board a list of reasons the students might want to write a letter. The teacher then tells the students to copy the list into their notebooks.	The teacher works with students to create a list of reasons one might write a letter, writing the examples on the board. The teacher then asks students to copy the list into their notebooks and to add one additional reason they might want to write a letter.	During a lesson on letter writing, after introducing the topic, the teacher says, "Everyone take two minutes to think of at least three reasons you might want to write a letter and write them in your notebook. You will then share the reasons you might want to write a letter with the rest of the class."			
3. Listening skills	The teacher explains what is meant by formal and casual listening and writes definitions of these terms on the board. Students are then asked to copy definitions in their notebooks.	After explaining what is meant by formal and casual listening, the teacher provides an example of each. Students are then asked to write in their notebooks examples of when they have listened formally and casually.	After explaining what is meant by formal and casual listening, the teacher lists a number of different scenarios on the board. The teacher then asks students to write in their notebooks whether each scenario is an example of casual or formal listening and to write a reason for each example as to why they think this. Students then share their work and justifications with their partner.			

Math Classes	LOW	MEDIUM	HIGH			
1. Learning how to graph algebraic equations	In an algebra lesson, students listen to the teacher explain the process of graphing equations and then copy examples from the board.	In an algebra lesson, the teacher writes an equation and then applies it to a Cartesian graph. After explaining the process, the teacher then asks students to plot several equations in their notebooks.	In an algebra lesson, the teacher writes an equation and then applies it to a Cartesian graph. The teacher then asks students to work in pairs to interpret the graph of the equation, linking parameters of the equation with the graph. After discussing the process as a class, the teacher asks students to write their own equation and plot it on a graph.			
2. Learning about probability	Students listen to the teacher explain the concept of probability and then copy examples of words used to describe the chance of an event happening (e.g., impossible, even chance, certain).	The teacher asks students to copy examples of words used to describe the chance of an event happening (e.g., impossible, even chance, certain). The teacher then describes an event and asks students to choose the word that best describes its chance of occurring (e.g., the teacher asks students, "What is the chance that you toss a coin and obtain a head?").	The teacher asks students to copy examples of words used to describe the chance of an event happening (e.g., impossible, even chance, certain). The teacher asks students to provide their own examples of events that represent each word (e.g., the teacher asks students, "Who can give me an example of an 'impossible' event?"). The teacher then asks the class if they agree or disagree with the examples given.			
3. Finding the area of a rectangular prism	On the board, the teacher calculates the surface area of a rectangular prism and then has students copy the information into their notebooks.	After explaining how to find the surface area of a rectangular prism, the teacher draws a prism on the board, gives measurements, and has students use the formula they know to determine the area.	The teacher draws the measurements of a rectangular prism on the board and explains that the class will determine the surface area of the shape. The teacher asks students discuss in pairs how the answer might be found. The teacher then asks students to share their ideas and from this discussion, the class derives a formula.			
4. Methods of prime factorization	The teacher explains and models on the board, using a diagram, how to use a factor tree to determine prime factors of the number 48. Students then copy the same diagram into their notebooks.	After explaining and modeling, using a diagram, how to use a factor tree to determine prime factors of the number 48, the teacher then has students come to the board to apply the method using different numbers (e.g., 90).	The teacher explains and models on the board, using a diagram, how to use a factor tree to determine prime factors of the number 48. The teacher then asks students to work with their partner to determine another method for finding the prime factors of the number 48. Students are later asked to share their method with the class.			

Science Classes	LOW	MEDIUM	HIGH
1. <i>Biology</i> Learning about cells	Students copy a diagram of a plant cell into their notebooks.	After describing the parts of a plant cell and their functions, the teacher asks students to match parts of a plant cell with their functions on a worksheet.	After describing the parts of a plant cell and their functions, the teacher asks students to write a paragraph describing the difference between a plant cell and a human cell.
2. <i>Biology</i> Using laboratory apparatuses	The teacher shows students different laboratory apparatuses at the front of the class while students listen and take notes.	The teacher asks students to identify and discuss what they know about different laboratory apparatuses, such as a specimen bottle, beam balance, or magnifying glass.	The teacher gives new laboratory apparatuses to students and asks them to explore them and try to discover their function. Students document their experiments and discoveries.
3. Chemistry Understanding properties of salts	The teacher demonstrates an experiment to show whether different salts are insoluble or soluble. The teacher writes up the results and a conclusion on the board, which students copy into their notebooks.	The teacher demonstrates an experiment to show whether different salts are insoluble or soluble. The teacher then writes the results and a conclusion on the board, which students copy into their notebooks. The teacher then asks students to carry out the exact same experiment in small groups but does not follow this activity with any discussion.	The teacher asks students to carry out an experiment to show whether different salts are insoluble or soluble. The teacher asks students to describe what they observed and record results in their notebooks. Students then discuss and interpret the results with their partner and write a conclusion to show their understanding of the experiment.
4. Chemistry Learning about waste materials	The teacher asks students to read aloud a page from their science textbook that describes different types of waste materials, such as solid waste, and hazardous waste.	The teacher writes the different types of waste materials, such as solid and hazardous waste, on the board. The teacher then writes a list of waste examples and has students categorize them.	After learning about different types of waste materials, students are asked to work in groups to identify waste materials and sources within their school. They then develop strategies and a plan for minimizing waste in their school and present their ideas to the class.
5. <i>Physics</i> Converting between temperature scales	The teacher writes on the board the formula for converting between Celsius and Kelvin temperature scales. The teacher models an example of converting between these two scales, which students copy into their notebooks.	The teacher writes on the board the formula for converting between Celsius and Kelvin temperature scales. The teacher then asks students to apply the formula to a number of different examples written on the board.	The teacher writes on the board the formula for converting between Celsius and Kelvin temperature scales. The teacher then asks students to apply the formula to a number of different examples written on the board. Students are later asked to create a table to indicate the advantages and disadvantages of using the different scales.
6. <i>Physics</i> Understanding types of errors in measurement	The teacher explains different types of errors in measurements (e.g., random, systematic, and "blunders"), and students listen.	The teacher explains different types of errors in measurement (e.g., random, systematic, and "blunders"). The teacher then describes different examples of an error and asks students to identify which type it is.	The teacher explains different types of errors in measurement (e.g., random, systematic, and "blunders"). The teacher then asks students to write down different examples of error types and ways in which these errors can be minimized.

# SOCIOEMOTIONAL SKILLS

AUTONOMY PERSEVERANCE SOCIAL AND COLLABORATIVE SKILLS



C.7

#### SOCIOEMOTIONAL SKILLS

#### **AUTONOMY**

# The teacher allows students to make choices and encourages students to participate in the classroom.

The teacher provides students with opportunities to make choices and take on meaningful roles in the classroom. Students make use of these opportunities by volunteering to take on roles and expressing their ideas and opinions throughout the lesson. This practice can be observed in the classroom through the following behaviors:

Score	1	2	3	4	۱.	5	
Behavior Quality	LOW	In this	MEDIUM		<b>HIGH</b> In this classroom, the teacher is		
Range	teacher is <b>ineffective</b> at developing students' autonomy.	is <b>som</b> develoj	<b>ewhat effective</b> at ping students' autono	<b>eff</b> my. aut	<b>effective</b> at developing students' autonomy.		
7.1 (?) The teacher provides students with choices	The teacher <b>does not explicit</b> <b>provide students with choice</b> The teacher decides how lear activities should be complete without providing different op for how students can approac the task. For example: Students are asked to complete a set of mathematica equations following a prescribed of steps. Or the teacher tells stude to write an argumentative essay w a partner without providing any ch regarding the person with whom t student will work or the topic.	y The teac with at le not relate tons to choose activities equations or to choose write an a et et et et et et et et et et	The teacher <b>explicitly provides students</b> <b>with at least one superficial choice</b> that is not related to the learning objective. For example: The teacher allows students to choose the order in which to complete activities (e.g., complete a set of mathematical equations or independently practice timetables) or to choose their own partner when asked to write an argumentative essay.		The teacher <b>explicitly provides students</b> <b>with at least one substantive choice</b> that is related to the learning objective. For example: The teacher allows students to use their own methods for solving mathematical equations (e.g., by using concrete materials, diagrams, or written formulas) or lets students choose which mathematical problem to solve from several examples. Or the teacher allows students to choose the topic of their argumentative essay or choose between writing an essay, giving a talk, or doing a visual presentation.		
7.2 The teacher provides students with opportunities to take on roles in the classroom	The teacher <b>does not provide</b> <b>students with opportunities t</b> <b>take on roles in the classroor</b> For example: The lesson is primar lecture-based and highly structure and students' participation is limit to copying information. In this less students never get the chance to to the board or read a text aloud.	The teac o opportur n. the class ily For examp d, tasks, pas ed Limited ro son, such as w come	ther provides students with nities to take on limited rol sroom. lole: Students take attendance, is out materials, or write on the les also include housekeeping iping the board.	n The es in opp role assign board. For e tasks oppo and tack. the t a per learr facili	teacher provides ortunities to take s in the classroo jonsible for parts example: The teacher ortunity to solve an o explain to the class led the main challer teacher may assign er tutor to help supp ning or the role of gr litate group discussi	students with on meaningful m, in which they are of a learning activity. er gives a student the equation on the board how the student riges of the problem. Or a student the role of port another student's roup leader to help on and participation.	
7.3 (?) The students volunteer to participate in the classroom	Students do not volunteer to participate in the classroom.	Only a fe participa taking or For exam question, up to ansu another q their hand Alternativ to stand u class deb, state their	ew students volunteer to the by expressing their idea in roles. Del: When the teacher asks a only a few students put their hi wer, later when the teacher ask uestion, the same few students tup. ely, when the teacher asks stud up if they would like to take part ate, only a few students stand a r arguments to the class.	As and by e role and mos s answ s put with offer tents teac t in a Or w and if the mos t ot h	st students volun xpressing their is s. example: When the is t students put their vers. The students of out the teacher ask out the teacher ask ther is explaining a c vhen the teacher ask ey would like to take it students stand an ne class.	teer to participate deas and taking on teacher asks a question, hand up to share their could also volunteer ing (e.g., a student experience when the concept). so students to stand up part in a class debate, d state their arguments	

C.8

#### SOCIOEMOTIONAL SKILLS

#### PERSEVERANCE

# The teacher promotes students' efforts, has a positive attitude toward challenges, and encourages goal setting.

The teacher promotes students' efforts toward the goal of mastering new skills or concepts, instead of focusing solely on results, intelligence, or natural abilities. In addition, the teacher has a positive attitude toward challenges, framing failure and frustrations as useful parts of the learning process. The teacher also encourages students to set short- and/or long-term goals. This practice can be observed in the classroom through the following behaviors:

Score	1	2		3		4	5	
Behavior	<b>LOW</b> In this classroom, the teacher is <b>ineffective</b> at developing students' perseverance.		MEDIUM		<b>HIGH</b> In this classroom, the teacher is <b>effective</b> at developing students' perseverance.			
Quality Range			In this classroom, the teacher is <b>somewhat effective</b> at developing students' perseverance.					
8.1 (?) The teacher acknowledges students' efforts rather than focusing only on results, intelligence, or natural abilities	The teacher <b>does not a</b> student efforts. Althou teacher may praise stu "being smart" or "intellig teacher does not focus efforts or work. For example: The teacher s good! You're the smartest class!" or "Well done! You're	eacher <b>does not acknowledge</b> <b>ant efforts</b> . Although the her may praise students for g smart" or "intelligent," the her does not focus on students' is or work. <i>sample</i> : The teacher says, "Very You're the smartest student in the " or "Well done! You're so smart!" In this classroom, the teacher <b>sometin</b> <b>acknowledges student efforts, but</b> <b>most praise is focused on outcomes of</b> <b>student intelligence.</b> For example: When a student does well on test, the teacher says, "Good effort," or whe a student attempts to answer a question bi is incorrect, the teacher says, "Well tried" bi does not explicitly identify what these effor involved.		metimes out omes or vell on a or when or when stion but ried" but e efforts	In this classroom, the teacher frequently acknowledges students' efforts toward mastering new skills or concepts, and identifies these efforts explicitly. For example: When students solve a difficult problem with which they had been struggling, the teacher praises and highlights the efforts they made to solve it. The teacher says, "You have progressed so much in your understanding of algebra. If you keep practicing and using the strategies we learned in class, you'll master them all very soon!"			
8.2 (?) The teacher has a positive attitude toward students' challenges <sup>9</sup>	The teacher has a <b>nega</b> toward students' chall For example: The teacher of students for making mista impatient with a student for understand a new concept	The teacher has a <b>negative attitude</b> <b>coward students' challenges</b> . For example: The teacher explicitly scolds students for making mistakes or becomes impatient with a student for taking time to understand a new concept.		The teacher has a <b>neutral attitude</b> <b>toward students' challenges</b> . Although the teacher does not penalize a student for making mistakes or struggling with a new concept, the teacher does not make it clear that failure and frustration are normal parts of the learning process. For example: When a student makes an error when solving a math equation on the board, the teacher simply gives the student the answer in a neutral manner (i.e., not in an angry or impatient manner).		The teacher has a <b>positive attitude</b> <b>toward students' challenges</b> and helps students understand that failure and frustration are normal parts of the learning process. For example: When a student makes a mistake while solving an equation on the board, the teacher says, "Remember, it's okay to make mistakes and feel frustrated when we're trying to do something new! Let's think about how we can solve this equation." The teacher also encourages students to think through different resources to which they can turn for help (e.g., asking a friend, looking for answers in the textbook, using concrete materials or diagrams when solving math problems).		
8.3 The teacher encourages goal setting	The teacher does not e students to set short- goals. <sup>10</sup>	ncourage <u>DR</u> long-term	The teacher either short- For example: I the teacher as the book will y many element memorize this setting, the tea down how mu goals we set a Alternatively the importan general way For example: I to think abool," characters in a goal for thems	encourages student OR long-term goals for short-term goal sett ks, "How many chapter ou read this week?" or 's of the Periodic Table week?" For long-term g cher says, "I want you ch progress you've mat the start of the schoo the start of the schoo the teacher may ta the teacher says, "It's in what you want to do wild to the teacher says, "It's in what you want to do wild to book set a short- or loo elves and how they woo	ts to set ing, s of How will you yoal to write de on the l year." <b>Ik about</b> in a apportant nen you s how ng-term rked	The teacher <b>er</b> set short- ANL teacher may re short-term goa particularly wh to set a short-t planning to acl For example: Th about the goals beginning of the thing you will do closer to that go about short- and (as in the examp	toourages students to long-term goals. The ofference both long- and lis at the same time, en encouraging students erm goal as part of their nieve a long-term goal. e teacher says, "Let's think we set for ourselves at the school year. What is one this week that will get you al?" <u>OR</u> the teacher talks long-term goals separately les for a medium rating).	

<sup>9</sup> These challenges may include making mistakes, scoring low on a test, or feeling frustrated when trying to understand a concept.
<sup>10</sup> Short-term goals are goals that students aim to achieve within a month or less, and long-term goals are goals that span a longer timeframe (e.g., over the school year, when they grow up).

## C.9

#### SOCIOEMOTIONAL SKILLS

#### **SOCIAL & COLLABORATIVE** SKILLS

#### The teacher fosters a collaborative classroom environment.

The teacher encourages students' collaboration with one another and promotes students' interpersonal skills. Students respond to the teacher's efforts by collaborating with one another in the classroom, creating an environment free from physical or emotional hostility. This practice can be observed in the classroom through the following behaviors:

Score	1	2		3		4	5	
Behavior Quality Range	<b>LOW</b> In this classroom, the teacher is <b>ineffective</b> at developing students' collaborative skills.		In this o <b>somew</b> student	<b>MEDIUM</b> In this classroom, the teacher is <b>somewhat effective</b> at developing students' collaborative skills.		<b>HIGH</b> In this classroom, the teacher is <b>effective</b> at developing students' collaborative skills.		
9.1 The teacher promotes students' collaboration through peer interaction	The teacher <b>does not p</b> <b>collaboration among st</b> For example: The teacher a provide any opportunities to groups or pairs.	romote udents. loes not o work in	ote ints.The teacher promotes superficial student collaboration through sharing opinions, materials, or ideas.ot kinFor example: The teacher asks students to share textbooks or swap their work with a partner for marking.		The teacher <b>promotes substantial</b> <b>student collaboration</b> by asking them to work together to produce a product, help another student, solve a problem, complete a worksheet, or present a new idea. For example: The teacher asks students to form pairs or groups to complete a task that requires collaboration, such as planning an experiment or collecting data and creating a graph. Alternatively, a teacher may ask a student with a good understanding of a concept to help another student is having difficulty.			
9.2 (?) The teacher promotes students' interpersonal skills such as perspective taking, empathizing, emotion regulation, and social problem solving''	The teacher does not p students' interpersonal	romote skills.	The teacher promotes students' interpersonal skills in a brief or superficial manner. For example: The teacher tells students to "Help each other," asks a student to respect the ideas of other classmates, or encourages students to contribute equally during a group activity. However, the teacher does not explain why these behaviors are important.		The teacher promotes students' interpersonal skills by encouraging perspective taking, empathizing, emotion regulation, or social problem solving. For example: When a student is mocked by other classmates for giving an incorrect answer, the teacher promotes empathy by reminding the class that everyone makes mistakes and/or to consider how they would feel if they were the ones being teased. When a teacher notices that student are becoming competitive, the teacher promotes emotion regulation by saying. 'We are not in a competition. Remember we are all a part of the same classroom and are supporting each other to learn and do our best.' After reading a text about a character who is blind, the teacher asks students to imagine what it would be like if they could not see. See FAQ 9.2 for more examples.			
9.3 Students collaborate with one another through peer interaction	Students do not collaborate, <u>OR</u> when students interact with one another, they display negative behaviors. For example: When asked to pick partners for an activity, students do not interact with their peer and work independently. They may also display at any point during the observed lesson segment negative behaviors such as pushing, bullying, or purposely excluding one or more of their peers.		Students <b>collaborate superficially. There</b> <b>are no displays of negative behavior.</b> For example: When working in a group, one student may clearly dominate the discussion while others are only passively involved. Alternatively, students share materials among themselves in a group, but they complete the activity independently and do not collaborate with one another when solving a problem.		Students colla by working too product, solve a worksheet, o There are no di behavior. For example: Stu groups to comple collaboration, su experiment or co a graph. Alternat understanding oi student is having	borate with one another lether to produce a a problem, complete ir present a new idea. isplays of negative dents work in pairs or ete a task that requires ch as planning an lecting data and creating ively, a student with a good f a concept may help another g difficulty.		

<sup>11</sup> Perspective taking: The ability to consider a situation from a different point of view. Empathizing: The ability to recognize and share another's emotions.

Emotion regulation: The ability to effectively manage and respond to an emotional experience.

Social problem solving: The process that an individual goes through to solve an interpersonal problem. This may involve applying aspects of perspective taking, empathizing, or emotion regulation to a social situation.

# CHECKLIST: OTHER ASPECTS OF EDUCATIONAL QUALITY

#### **Overview**

The *Teach Secondary* classroom observation tool is accompanied by a checklist that assesses other aspects of educational quality and inclusion. While the use of this checklist together with the classroom observation tool is suggested, its use is not mandatory.

The aim of this checklist is to 1) identify the number of students with disabilities in the classroom; 2) capture elements related to the accessibility of the physical environment; and 3) capture other elements related to educational inclusion, such as the availability of learning and teaching materials for all students. This data can be leveraged together with results from the classroom observation tool to provide a more comprehensive vision of the quality and inclusion of the education provided to students.

The checklist includes a set of questions that enumerators should complete before and after conducting the observations. If the checklist will be used, enumerators should share this with teachers upon their arrival at the classroom. Then, enumerators should complete the first section (Fill in before the classroom observation) at the start of their visit and complete the second section (Fill in after the classroom observation) after class has concluded. Some of the questions in the second section will require input from the teacher; these questions have been highlighted via asterisks (\*) within the checklist.

A subset of the questions within the checklist focus on capturing the approximate number of students with a disability within the classroom. These questions have been adapted from the Washington Group Short Set on Functioning (WG-SS). We recommend using the original set of items (Washington Group/UNICEF Child Functioning Module-Ages 5–17 years) and its related protocols to collect more precise data on the number of students with disability in the classroom.

## **Checklist: Other Aspects of Educational Quality**

The following checklist is a proposed addition to be used together with the *Teach Secondary* Classroom Observation Tool; while its use together with the classroom observation component is suggested, it is not mandatory. The aim of the checklist is to assess additional elements related to educational quality, including but not limited to the accessibility of the physical environment. Items indicated with an asterisk are to be asked to the teacher.

 \*items to ask teacher

 Fill in before the classroom observation

 School/Center ID
 Image: Colspan="5">Image: Colspan="5" Image: Colspan="5" Imag

Scheduled class time*					
Actual class time					
Time the lesson started					
Total class enrollment*	Female	Female Male			
	Female	1	Male		
lotal students in class					
Grade/level of class*					
Subject					
Number of adults			Female	Male	
assigned to work in this	Total number of teachers (not including nun				
Classioonn	Total number of assistants				
	Number of assistants providing specialize or a select group of students	ed support to one			
	Other (please specify role):				

Fill in after the classroom observation						
Time the lesson finished						
How many students have access to the following		Female	Male			
	A textbook for the class (e.g., language or mathematics)					
resources?^	A pencil or pen					
	An exercise book					
	Adapted teaching and learning materials such as Braille or large-font textbooks					

Compared with students				Female	Male
of the same age, how many students <b>enrolled</b> in the class have the following difficulties? <sup>12*</sup>	A lot of a				
	A lot of a				
	A lot of a				
	A lot of a				
	A lot of o				
	A lot of difficulty communicating (in his/her usual language), for example understanding or being understood?				
	A lot of difficulty managing their behavior (e.g., hitting students repeatedly, disrespecting the teacher)?				
What is the official language of instruction?*					
What proportion of	All the s	tudents speak this language at hom	e.		
enrolled students speak the same language at	More the	an half of the students speak this la	nguage at home.		
home as the official language of instruction?*	Less tha	n half of the students speak this lar	iguage at home.		
(check one)	None of	the students speak this language at			
What language(s) did the					
teacher teach in?*					
How many students have		Female	Ν	lale	
How many students have Individualized Education Plans (IEPs) or receive specialist support?*		Female	M	lale	
How many students have Individualized Education Plans (IEPs) or receive specialist support?*		Female	N	lale	Male
teacher teach in?* How many students have Individualized Education Plans (IEPs) or receive specialist support?* Number of adults <b>present</b> in this classroom*	Total nu	Female	M Nber of assistants)	lale Female	Male
teacher teach in?* How many students have Individualized Education Plans (IEPs) or receive specialist support?* Number of adults present in this classroom*	Total nu Total nu	Female mber of teachers (not including num mber of assistants	M nber of assistants)	lale Female	Male
teacher teach in?* How many students have Individualized Education Plans (IEPs) or receive specialist support?* Number of adults present in this classroom*	Total nu Total nu Number select gi	Female mber of teachers (not including num mber of assistants of assistants providing specialized roup of students	M Number of assistants) Support to one or a	Iale Female	Male
teacher teach in?* How many students have Individualized Education Plans (IEPs) or receive specialist support?* Number of adults present in this classroom*	Total nu Total nu Number select gi Other (p	Female mber of teachers (not including num mber of assistants of assistants providing specialized roup of students lease specify role):	M nber of assistants) support to one or a	Iale Female	Male
teacher teach in?* How many students have Individualized Education Plans (IEPs) or receive specialist support?* Number of adults present in this classroom* Did you have to end an observation before the	Total nu Total nu Number select gi Other (p	Female         mber of teachers (not including num         mber of assistants         of assistants providing specialized         oup of students         lease specify role):         If yes, indicate the following:         Segment:       End Time:	M nber of assistants) support to one or a	lale Female	Male
teacher teach in?* How many students have Individualized Education Plans (IEPs) or receive specialist support?* Number of adults present in this classroom* Did you have to end an observation before the segment was finished for any reason?	Total nu Total nu Number select gi Other (p Yes No	Female         mber of teachers (not including num         mber of assistants         of assistants providing specialized         oup of students         lease specify role):         If yes, indicate the following:         Segment:       End Time:         Reason:	M Number of assistants) Support to one or a	lale Female	Male
<ul> <li>teacher teach in?*</li> <li>How many students have Individualized Education Plans (IEPs) or receive specialist support?*</li> <li>Number of adults present in this classroom*</li> <li>Did you have to end an observation before the segment was finished for any reason?</li> <li>Were the students left</li> </ul>	Total nu Total nu Number select gi Other (p Yes No Yes	Female         mber of teachers (not including num         mber of assistants         of assistants providing specialized         oup of students         lease specify role):         If yes, indicate the following:         Segment:       End Time:         Reasons         for minutes	M Number of assistants) Support to one or a	lale Female	Male
teacher teach in?* How many students have Individualized Education Plans (IEPs) or receive specialist support?* Number of adults present in this classroom* Did you have to end an observation before the segment was finished for any reason? Were the students left unsupervised?	Total nu Total nu Number select gi Other (p Yes No Yes No	Female         mber of teachers (not including num         mber of assistants         of assistants providing specialized         oup of students         lease specify role):         If yes, indicate the following:         Segment:       End Time:         for minutes	N nber of assistants) support to one or a	lale Female	Male
<ul> <li>teacher teach in?*</li> <li>How many students have Individualized Education Plans (IEPs) or receive specialist support?*</li> <li>Number of adults present in this classroom*</li> <li>Did you have to end an observation before the segment was finished for any reason?</li> <li>Were the students left unsupervised?</li> <li>Were any severe negative verbal/ physical</li> </ul>	Total nu Total nu Number select gi Other (p Yes No Yes No Yes	Female         mber of teachers (not including num         mber of assistants         of assistants providing specialized         oup of students         lease specify role):         If yes, indicate the following:         Segment:       End Time:         for minutes         Please describe what was observed:	Ner of assistants) support to one or a	lale Female	Male

<sup>12</sup> These items represent adaptations of the Washington Group Short Set questions. Questions have been modified to facilitate application within the context of the Teach Secondary observation protocol and are intended to be posed collectively about all students in the classroom, rather than individually. More detailed data concerning students with disabilities may be obtained through application of the Washington Group/UNICEF Child Functioning Module-Ages 5-17 years.

Are the following			No
resources available in the classroom?	A blackboard and/or whiteboard for the class		
	Chalk or a marker available for writing on the board during the lesson		
	Any other teaching and learning materials apart from textbooks (e.g., laboratory equipment/ manipulatives/ Information Communication Technology resources)		
Can the following	A weatherproof roof		
be observed in the	A working electricity connection		
Classiooni	Windows		
	Is there sufficient light and contrast for reading what is written on the board from the back of the room?		
	<b>Enumerator Note:</b> read chalk writing on the board from the back of the classroom		
	Is students' work displayed in the classroom?		
	Other than students' work, are other posters or charts displayed in the classroom?		
	Students who are not sitting at desks		
	If yes, how many?		
	Can the teacher reach all students' workspaces/desks in the classroom?		
	A main entrance which wide enough for a person in a wheelchair to enter		
Can the following be	Steps leading up to the classroom		
observed outside of the classroom?	A proper ramp in good condition usable by a person in a wheelchair to access the classroom		

# **FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS**

## Time on Task

#### (0.1a) When the class is in transition, how do I know when the transition has ended?

Transitions occur in most classes. As indicated in the manual, consider what more than two-thirds of the students are doing and if the teacher is providing opportunities to learn. A transition officially ends when more than two-thirds of the students are provided with the next learning activity. For example, if the teacher says, "Open your textbooks and complete the exercise on page 3," but students have not yet opened their textbooks at the time of the snapshot, this instruction is still considered a learning activity as the teacher has provided a learning activity for most students. However, the students may be off task. If more than two-thirds of the students do not have an activity or have finished the activity and are waiting for the last few students to finish, this situation is not considered a learning activity. Moreover, students who are taking out their notebooks but have not begun completing the exercise would be considered on-task as they are following instructions. However, if they are not following instructions (e.g., by talking to their neighbors or distracting other students), they are considered off task. Remember that actions such as clapping for classmates are not considered a transition as students are encouraging their classmate in their learning.

#### (0.1b) How do I code the snapshot if a learning activity happens concurrently with administrative activities?

Even though the teacher is doing administrative tasks (which are considered non-learning activities), the situation counts as a learning activity if most students are provided with a learning activity. For example, while taking attendance, a teacher may ask students to copy exercises from the board or complete exercises from a textbook.

#### (0.1c) What is meant by "most students"?

The term "most students" is applied within the *Teach Secondary* manual at several points to help inform the coding of various behaviors. In all instances, "most students" should be considered as two-thirds or more of the students in the class.

#### (0.2) Are students off task if they leave the room during the snapshot?

If students leave the room during the snapshot, they are counted as off task. If they leave the room before the snapshot, observers should not count them as off task.

# (0.3a) How do I code the snapshot if students' participation changes from active to passive or vice versa during the 10-second scan?

For visual instances (e.g., students putting their hands up), students' participation is counted in the same way as behavior 0.2 (on task versus off task). If, for example, a student is actively participating when the observer is scanning the room and then becomes passive after the scan, the observer codes this as active participation because at the moment of the scan the student was active. For audial instances, however, if over two-thirds of students respond in chorus (e.g., all singing, all reading, responding in synchrony) at any point throughout the scan, they are considered as actively participating.

#### (0.3b) How do I code this behavior if students are looking at an object or their books?

If students are simply looking at the board or at the teacher while the teacher is talking, this activity is considered passive participation. However, if the teacher explicitly instructs students to actively observe or analyze something during the lesson segment (e.g., a text or object), this action is considered an active learning activity. For example, students who are observing a microscope can be considered actively participating if a teacher explicitly states that observation is the focus of the activity (e.g., learning about the different parts of a microscope). However, students who are looking in their books are not considered an active example of participation if the teacher has not instructed them to do so as part of a learning activity.

#### **Quality of Teaching Practices**

#### (1.1) Must a teacher use students' names to treat students respectfully?

In some cultures, the use of names may not be a common sign of respect. If the teacher does not use names but exhibits other signs of respectful behavior (e.g., the teacher uses terms of endearment or uses a respectful form of a word to refer to students), this behavior may still be scored as high.

#### (1.2a) How do we count teacher- and student-initiated positive language and gestures?

Positive language or gestures that are initiated by the teacher can be counted separately as an instance of positive language. For example, if a teacher asks students to clap or give a thumbs-up for another student and students carry out the action, this sequence would be counted as two instances. Other examples of positive gestures by the teacher include giving prizes, fist bumps, pats on the back. Positive gestures may also be specific to the local cultural context. Note that smiling and nodding are not counted due to the ambiguity of meaning.

# (1.2b) What is considered "consistent" positive language? Specifically, where should I draw the line between a medium and a high score?

Both the consistency and the quality of the comments should be taken into consideration. For example, if a teacher simply says, "You are bright students and are all very good at using your heads!" and "Awesome! You're all doing so well!" in a 15-minute segment, it is weighted more heavily than if the teacher says "Good" 4 times. However, if the teacher says "Very good" 7 times, these comments would constitute a high rating. The following basic thresholds may be used as a loose guide to determine scoring: 0 instances of positive language constitute a low score, 1–4 instances a medium score, and at least 5 instances a high score.

#### (1.3a) If a student needs to go to the bathroom, is that considered a need?

Yes, although the examples in the manual have to do with providing materials or emotional support, please remember that the examples are not comprehensive. Any observable emotional, material, or physical needs are captured under 1.3. If a student needs to go the bathroom, discomfort could affect how the student pays attention during the class, so it is important for the teacher to address. It is important to note that what is not captured in 1.3 is a student's need to understand academic content, which is captured when the teacher adjusts the lesson (behavior 4.3).

# (1.3b) During a partner activity, the teacher rearranges partners to include a student without a partner. Does this count as responding to a student need?

Yes, although rearranging students in the classroom is not automatically considered responding to student needs, if a student does not have a partner or group for an activity and the teacher rearranges students to include the student, this action is considered to be addressing a student need. For this action to count, there must be an identifiable student need—e.g., the student either must visibly not have a partner, or the teacher might ask, "Who doesn't have a partner?" and the student responds that they do not have a partner.

#### (1.3c) Does asking a student if they have a specific need automatically count as responding to a student need?

No, when a teacher simply asks if a student has a need, this question does not necessarily count as responding to a student need. For example, if the teacher asks if a student needs a pen, this question does not automatically count as responding to a student need. However, it is scored as medium if the student indicates the perceived need does indeed exist by indicating that they need a pen, or if it is clear that the student needs a pen. If the teacher addresses the problem by providing a pen, this action is scored as high.

# (1.3d) If a teacher is observed as responding to some but not all student needs in the classroom, how should this behavior be scored?

If a mix of evidence is observed, whereby the teacher is seen to ignore one or more students' apparent needs at any point during the segment, this behavior should be scored as low and should take precedence, even if at a different point in the lesson the teacher is seen addressing other students' needs.

# (1.4a) If a teacher uses explicit language that encourages equal opportunities in the classroom, but this language is not reflected in other behaviors exhibited by the teacher, can this still be scored as high?

No. If a teacher says, "Now we have heard from a boy, let's hear from a girl," or "We have not heard from any girls, is there a girl who can answer the question?" but continues with the lesson by only giving opportunities for boys to participate in learning, this behavior would be scored as low. When explicit language that encourages equal opportunities is used within the classroom, it is important to observe whether the teacher's actions also reflect this language. If any clear indication of gender bias or stereotyping occurs, this behavior should take precedence in deciding the overall rating. For example, if the teacher is using language that indicates the promotion of equal opportunities such as, "I would like both boys and girls to answer," and proceeds with alternating between asking a boy then a girl when there is a clear gender imbalance in the classroom (e.g., 3 boys and 28 girls), this behavior would be scored as low because boys are clearly being given unequal opportunities to participate in the lesson.

#### (1.4b) What happens if a student makes a remark that expresses gender bias or stereotyping?

If a student is observed making a comment in the classroom that expresses gender bias or stereotyping, such as "Girls can't do math!" or "Cleaning is not a boy's job!" and this language is not addressed by the teacher, this behavior would be scored as low. If the teacher responds by acknowledging the inappropriateness of the comment but does not challenge it, this behavior would be scored as medium. Alternatively, if the teacher acknowledges the inappropriateness of the comment and challenges the stereotype by saying, "That is not true, there are many boys who help their parents with cleaning at home," this behavior would be scored as high.

# (1.4c) Can a teacher's use of resources be counted as an example of challenging gender or disability stereotypes?

If a teacher uses resources or examples during classroom activities that challenge gender or disability stereotypes (e.g., text or image that shows a man cooking or cleaning for children, or a student with crutches playing a game with other students in the playground), this behavior can be counted as an example of challenging gender or disability stereotypes and would be coded as high.

#### (2.1) How are behavioral expectations different from directions or instructions for an activity?

Behavioral expectations focus on the expected behavior during an activity, whereas instructions for an activity focus on the steps required to complete an activity. For instance, the teacher may provide instructions for an activity by saying, "Put one hand on page 123 in your textbook and your other hand on page 244." This direction tells students what they need to do to carry out the activity. On the other hand, the teacher may state behavioral expectations by saying, "If you have any questions, quietly raise your hand." This instruction sets clear behavioral expectations for students to follow during the activity.

# (2.3) A student was sleeping in class, but I know he was up all night working. The teacher seems sympathetic toward him and is letting him sleep. Does this behavior affect the score?

This question illustrates two issues. First, observers need to be very careful not to let any outside information influence their coding. No matter what the reason, only code and score what is observed in the coding segment.

The second issue is the definition of misbehavior. Two factors may be considered when deciding if the student is misbehaving: if the student is causing a disruption in the classroom (distracting students who are trying to pay attention to the lesson), and if the teacher is bothered by this disruption. If neither the teacher nor the other students are bothered by the sleeping student, and the student is not disruptive to the flow of the lesson, the behavior 2.3 score could still be "high," depending on the other evidence in the classroom.

# (3.1a) How do I score this behavior when a teacher states or writes multiple lesson objectives in a single lesson?

It is fine for a teacher to state more than one lesson objective. However, the lesson activities must clearly relate to each stated and/or written objective. If the teacher includes more than one objective, lesson activities must relate to all stated or written objectives to be scored high. If activities relate to only one of the multiple objectives, score this behavior as medium.

#### (3.1b) How do I score this behavior when the lesson objective is very broad and/or may seem like an activity?

If all the lesson activities are clearly related to the broad objective, this behavior can be scored as high. For example, if the teacher says, "Today we are going to look at the microscope," and the teacher shows a diagram of the microscope and invites students to view and label the parts of a microscope, this activity would be scored high. All activities relate to examining a microscope, and it is an appropriate objective in this scenario. However, if in the same class the students then use the microscope to compare plant and animal cells, the statement would then be considered a broad lesson topic and scored as medium, as there are additional activities not related to the stated topic. In a language arts class, if a teacher says, "We are learning about letter writing today," and all activities involve learning about the purpose and types of letter writing, this activity would be scored high.

#### (3.1c) If a student is observed as stating or writing the lesson objective, can this action still be counted?

Yes. In some cases, the teacher may ask students to derive a lesson objective for the class. If this practice is observed, and the objective is clearly stated to the class or written, then this activity can still be counted.

#### (3.2a) What do we mean by a "form of representation"?

Forms of representation refer to the way in which teachers represent and explain lesson content. Examples of the six forms of representation commonly used by teachers in the secondary classroom include the use of:

- **Spoken language** For example, the teacher verbally explains content to students. This practice includes when students listen to the teacher read a text, or when the teacher plays spoken language for the students which is heard via radio, video, or other technologies.
- **Music** For example, the teacher uses singing, chanting, and/or other musical forms when explaining content to students. Students may or may not sing/chant along. This practice includes when students listen to music and/or sounds heard via radio, video, or other technologies.
- **Text** For example, the teacher uses letters, words, numbers, and/or symbols on the board when explaining content to students. This practice includes when the teacher asks students to look at printed text on the board, posters, worksheets, and/or textbooks, or on a projected screen.
- Visual aids For example, the teacher uses pictures, posters, images within books, and/or other graphics when explaining content. This practice includes other visual forms such as drawing on the board, sign language, and images found in video or other technologies.
- Concrete objects For example, the teacher directly refers to and/or manipulates physical items such as
  objects and/or other materials when explaining content to students. This practice may include the use of Braille
  or other tactile-based languages.
- **Movement** For example, the teacher uses dance, exercise, and/or other bodily movements when explaining content to students.

Remember that each of the above categories can only be counted once. If a teacher uses visual aids twice within the lesson, for example, by showing children an image of a cell on a poster and then later drawing for students a diagram of a cell on the board, these activities would only count as one form of representation.

#### (3.2b) Can one example count as more than one form of representation?

Yes. A teacher can use one object to explain and represent lesson content in multiple, different forms.

For example, a teacher may read out loud from a textbook (spoken language) while students read along in their own textbook (text). A teacher may also hold the textbook up at the front of the classroom and point to a diagram (visual aid) when explaining lesson content (spoken language). If a teacher asks students to read or complete an activity from a textbook without using the textbook to explain lesson content, this activity is not considered a form of representation. Textbooks can count as a form of representation only when teachers use textbook content to explain lesson content.

#### (3.2c) Do all forms of representation need to be displayed or initiated by the teacher?

No. A teacher may ask a student to come to the board to do an activity (e.g., solve an equation) and refer to this example in his/her teaching. In these cases, the student example to which the teacher is referring would also count as a form of representation.

#### (3.2d) Do all forms of representation need to be seen by the whole class?

If a teacher explains content to a student during an independent activity or group work, and this activity can be seen or heard by the observer, forms of representation used in these instances would also count. For example, if a teacher refers to a diagram produced by a student while giving feedback to another student, this action can be considered as an example of a visual aid and can be counted as an additional form of representation, if no other examples of visual aids have been used within the lesson segment.

#### (3.3a) What exactly counts as students' daily lives, and how is it determined to be "meaningful"?

The teacher needs to explicitly state how the content relates to students' lives, rather than the observer inferring what is related to students' lives. If the teacher only mentions objects students may encounter in their daily lives, such as, "Let's find the surface area of a cylinder," this statement is not considered a meaningful connection. However, if the teacher makes an explicit statement that connects to students' lives, such as, "Who can give me an example of a cylinder that we use in our everyday lives (e.g., cup, rubbish bin, bottle, chalk)?" that question would be an attempt to make a connection. In this example, barring other evidence, the behavior is scored as medium because it is not explicitly connected to the lesson objective. However, if after making the explicit connection to cylinders from students' lives the teacher connects the example to the lesson objective by saying, "So here we have a water bottle that belongs to Student A. How could I work out the surface area of Student A's) bottle?" this question constitutes a high score because the teacher explicitly relates the example to both students' daily lives and the lesson objective.

#### (3.3b) What counts as teachers' making connections to real-world issues?

The teacher needs to explicitly state how the content is related to a past or present issue that affects the community and/or environment, such as environmental issues, a political crisis, or social issues. References to real-world figures or events do not constitute a connection to real-world issues unless they are explicit and specific. For example, if a teacher says, "Someone could write to a letter to a politician," this suggestion is not considered a meaningful connection to a real-world issue because the teacher does not connect the learning to a specific politician and related real-world social or political issue. However, if a teacher says, "Someone could write a letter to the UN Secretary General to express their opinions about the new global climate policies," this statement is considered making a meaningful connection to real-world issues and would be scored as high. In this example the teacher connects the lesson to a specific politician and a real-world issue.

# (3.3c) What counts as making connections to other content knowledge? Does recalling what was learned in a previous lesson count as a connection?

Recalling a previous lesson may count as a connection, particularly if the teacher attempts to explicitly connect the lesson to the past content knowledge. For example, if the teacher says, "Remember when we learned how to calculate a number to the power of 2? Today we are going to learn how to calculate a number to the power of negative 2," this statement is scored as medium because although the teacher explicitly connects new content to past content, the teacher only does so superficially. However, if the teacher further explains how to use students' knowledge of positive exponential numbers (i.e., numbers involving positive powers) to solve problems using negative examples, this practice is scored as high because the teacher not only recalls what was learned in a past lesson and connects to new content, but also builds upon past content to contextualize new material. If the teacher simply recalls what was learned in a previous lesson without making an explicit connection to the current lesson, this action is scored as low. For example, the teacher may say, "Remember how we learned about profits yesterday? Today we're going to learn about loss."

# (3.4a) I'm having trouble with modeling. How do I know when I see it? What should I specifically look for in modeling?

Modeling a procedure or skill mirrors an activity that students will be asked to do in that lesson or in the near future. Teachers can model by demonstrating the procedure (showing how to perform a task) or thinking aloud. When the teacher demonstrates a procedure, the teacher shows all, or some of, the steps in a process for a complete or partial model. Cognitive modeling, or a "think aloud," refers to when a teacher explicitly discusses a thought process or strategy with students by thinking through the challenge aloud (e.g., how to extract important information from a word problem, how to determine theme in a text). Showing the end product could look different across disciplines, but it essentially gives students an example for which to strive.

#### (3.4b) Does modeling always have to happen before the activity?

Although the traditional idea of modeling is that the teacher demonstrates or thinks aloud a task, after which students complete the same activity, modeling does not always have to take place before the activity. Modeling can occur whenever the teacher demonstrates a procedure or thinks aloud regardless of whether it is at the beginning or end of the activity. For modeling to occur effectively, it is important that the demonstrated task or presented think aloud is the same as the task students are expected to perform or have performed. Modeling can occur at the end of class if the teacher walks students through the thinking process while solving a problem. However, simply revealing the answer to a learning activity or a math problem is not considered modeling.

#### (3.4c) What is the difference between an instructional explanation and modeling?

To model for students, the teacher needs to perform the task or parts of the task that the teacher is asking students to do. This activity differs from giving students directions or explaining an activity because it involves teacher demonstration. The teacher may also demonstrate his/her thinking process as part of the model. If the task is to learn the meaning of new words in a text, and the teacher simply provides students with a definition of a word, this action may contribute to student understanding, but it does not necessarily constitute modeling. An example of modeling is if the teacher were to demonstrate how to use context clues to find the meaning of a word. For example, the teacher may say, "When I don't know the meaning of a word (in this case, "abrupt"), I reread the sentence, and think about the context, here I read......, therefore I know this word means something like sudden or unexpected."

In a math classroom, the teacher may be working with students to estimate the volume of different objects in standard units. The teacher may explain the size of a cubic centimeter and provide examples of common objects that are a cubic centimeter—this activity is part of his/her instructional explanation. To model, the teacher may show students how to estimate. For example, the teacher may show that a die is approximately one cubic centimeter, and that this knowledge can be used to try to estimate the volume of a box by thinking about (or measuring) how many dice would fit into the box.

#### (3.4d) I'm still having trouble identifying modeling. Any other tips?

To determine whether the teacher has modeled, ask yourself:

- 1. What is the learning activity? What are students being asked to do or learn? Did the teacher show students what this process or skill looks like?
  - a. Is the thing students are being asked to do a process or a thinking skill?
  - b. If students are asked to do a thinking skill, the teacher must do a think aloud to be scored as high. If the task is procedural, the teacher should show students all steps in the process to be scored as high.
- 2. Students then complete a similar activity in that lesson or in the near future.

# (3.4e) If the teacher models a procedure—for finding prime factors, for example—but then students are requested to do a different activity involving prime factors, is it considered modeling?

If students do some of the procedure, it could be partial modeling. However, if what students do is unrelated to the procedure shown by the teacher, the teacher's behavior does not count as modeling. Therefore, while the activity does not need to be identical, some or all the modeled procedure needs to be included in the activity to be counted as evidence toward modeling.

#### (3.4f) Can students and teachers co-construct a model or should it be entirely teacher-led?

Although we often think of a teacher presenting a model for the benefit of the students, some cases arise where modeling is not completely led by the teacher, and students may be a part of the process. For example, students and the teacher co-construct knowledge by demonstrating a procedure together to get to the final product.

#### (4.1a) Can an activity be a way to check for understanding?

It is important to follow the manual by remembering that the teacher needs to ask questions to check for understanding. However, the questions asked by the teacher can be written or verbal, which would be inclusive of an activity. For instance, the teacher may pass out a written quiz to students and check their answers to determine their level of understanding. It is important to note that just giving a quiz is not a check for understanding; the teacher must check students' answers during the segment for it to count as a check for understanding. Additionally, checking homework (or work that was assigned prior to the observed segment) is not counted toward checking for understanding unless it is clear that the content of the work is related to the current lesson.

# (4.1b) How do I know what constitutes an "effective" check for understanding? Specifically, what is the difference between a medium score and a high score?

This behavior is designed to capture the extent to which the teacher makes an effort to check if students understand the content. In an effective check for understanding, the teacher gives individual students the opportunity to show what they know. For example, a highly effective way to check for understanding is by asking students to come to the board to complete a math problem. This activity is classified as such because the teacher can see the extent to which each individual student understands and is able to complete the task, but this system does not allow the teacher to gain information about more than two-thirds of students' understanding. What differentiates between a medium score and a high score is whether the teacher gains information on more than two-thirds of students' understanding over the course of the lesson. For example, a highly effective way in which a teacher could determine most students' understanding is by asking them to agree or disagree with statements by showing thumbs-up or thumbs-down, or by raising their hand or keeping it down. This behavior does not capture if the teacher does something with that information (which is captured in behavior 4.3). Moreover, the teacher can check more than two-thirds of students' understanding by asking representatives of small groups that have been working together on a task to share their answers with the class.

# (4.2a) During independent/group work the teacher walks around but does not approach or talk to students at all. Does this count as monitoring?

Yes. The teacher can verify students' understanding without providing comments; at times it is difficult to tell whether the teacher is looking at student work while walking around the classroom. Thus, if the teacher simply walks around the classroom during independent or group work, this behavior is scored as medium. Visual cues should also be considered. For example, the teacher points to students' work, leans in, or says something observers may not be able to hear. If the teacher is observed monitoring most students in this way, it may be scored as high.

# (4.2b) The teacher asks students to write their school name and the date in their notebooks. They spend a significant amount of time doing this. Does this activity count as independent work?

Yes, writing in their notebooks is a learning task for students who do it independently. Other examples of independent work include copying down examples from the board when the teacher asks them to and independently completing tasks given by the teacher (e.g., plot this equation on a graph, calculate the area of this object, complete these math equations, etc.).

If students are reading something in unison (e.g., facts about angles), and while the teacher circulates the classroom approaches individual students and corrects them, this action would count as a whole-group activity. Thus, it does not count as independent/group work. The teacher's comments are captured under feedback (5.1) and/or adjusting (4.3).

# (4.3a) Most of the adjustment examples are about explanation of content. Are there other ways a teacher could adjust?

Although the teacher may effectively adjust by further explaining content, adjusting teaching means giving more opportunities for students to learn, which the teacher may also do in other ways. For example, the teacher may give more time to finish a task or provide students who finish early with additional or more advanced tasks. Sometimes an overlap between feedback and adjusting teaching may occur, since the teacher can comment on students' work and adjust the lesson, but not all feedback should be counted as adjusting.

The teacher may also adjust by making preparations before the activity to accommodate the different needs or learning levels of students. Such preparations could include initially providing some students with an easier or more complex task based on their level of understanding. A teacher may also provide an adapted activity for a student who has a particular learning need, such as through the use of Braille for a student who has low vision or sign language for a student who is hard of hearing. If a teacher asks a student to present information in a different way to facilitate other students' understanding (e.g., by writing larger text or speaking more loudly so other students can see or hear), this activity also counts as an adjustment to teaching.

#### (4.3b) When can changing the language of instruction be counted as an adjustment to teaching?

Another example of adjusting is changing the language of instruction to facilitate understanding of content. This adjustment can occur in response to a student misunderstanding or as part of the teacher's explanation of content when it is evident that students are having difficulty understanding a concept or skill (e.g., a teacher may ask a question and no student answers, prompting the teacher to change the language of instruction to facilitate understanding). In many multilingual contexts, it is not uncommon for teachers to move fluidly between languages, and in these settings the observer needs to be aware to only consider instances where the teacher makes a deliberate attempt to adjust teaching to facilitate understanding of content. Changing language of instruction as an example of adjustment to teaching can also only be scored as medium unless another example of adjustment is observed that is substantial. This rating is because observers may not understand the language of instruction to which teachers change and therefore cannot make a judgment on whether it is a slight or substantial adjustment to teaching.

# (5.1/5.2) There is only one instance where the teacher provides specific comments. Is one instance enough for scoring as high?

Yes, but it depends on the quality of the teacher feedback. If the teacher gives one comment and provides substantive information about what a student did well or to clarify misunderstandings, one instance could be scored as a high. For example, while giving feedback to a student, the teacher may say, "With what number should ascending order start? Biggest or smallest? The smallest. But you started with the biggest. Ascending order starts with smallest, so it has to be like this." However, if the comment is somewhat vague or in the form of a hint, this behavior would likely be considered a medium. For example, while students are completing independent work the teacher may circulate and tell a student, "Don't write it there, start writing it from here," or "Leave room for your words to breathe." These comments are not specific.

# (6.1a) The teacher asks many open-ended questions but does not give students a chance to respond or answers on behalf of students. How should I score this?

This example helps to identify what may distinguish an action between a high or a medium rating. If a teacher asks many open-ended questions but does not give students a chance to respond or answers on behalf of students, the teacher cannot build upon student responses. Thus, this behavior is scored as medium. To score as high, the teacher must ask 3 or more open-ended questions, and at least 1 of these questions should build upon student responses.

# (6.1b) What if the teacher asks an open-ended question, but evidence from the observation suggests the question has a predetermined answer? Is this question counted as an open-ended question?

It depends. Open-ended questions must require students to think critically, reason, explain, or make generalizations. If a teacher asks, "Why can't we divide 25 by 2?" this question would be considered an open-ended question because although it has a set of limited answers, it asks students to reason and explain.

If you are uncertain about whether a question is open-ended, consider how students respond to the question. For example, if a teacher asks, "What is the function of the eyepiece on the microscope?" and a student says, "It helps us see things in the microscope" this question would not be counted an open-ended question because the student offers a response that sounds predetermined and does not demonstrate reasoning, explaining, or thinking critically. Additionally, if the student responded by reading an answer from a textbook, this question would not be counted as an open-ended question because the student retrieved the answer and was not required to think critically. However, if a student said, "The eyepiece can help reduce visual distractions when examining a specimen. It helps to shut out light so we can better focus on what we're examining," this question would count as an open-ended question because the student's response demonstrates critical thinking and an explanation.

Observers should also consider the full exchange between a teacher and students to determine whether a question is open-ended. If a teacher says, "Oh yes. That's a good point," or, "That is a new idea," it suggests that the student reasoned critically and/or creatively and that the original question was open-ended and prompted the student to think critically and/or creatively.

# (6.1c) If a teacher asks open-ended questions that are unrelated to lesson content such as, "How are you today?" is this counted as an open-ended question?

It depends. Open-ended questions that require a level of critical thinking, even if not related to lesson content, are considered open-ended questions. However, the full exchange of questions and responses between teachers and students should be considered. In the above example, if a student responds, "I'm fine," and the teacher accepts the response and moves on with the lesson, this question would not count as an open-ended question. If a student responds, "I'm nervous," and the teacher then asks, "Why? Why are you nervous today?" this exchange would count as two open-ended questions with a follow-up. The student's response demonstrates a level of critical thinking, and the teacher followed up with a second open-ended question that requires the student to explain why they are nervous.

# (6.2/6.3a) How do I score this behavior if students are completing an activity from a textbook? How do I know if the textbook activity includes a thinking task?

If it is impossible to determine what is in the textbook, this activity would not count toward a thinking task. Remember, you can only score what you see or hear. If you receive some indication of what is in the textbook (e.g., through the teacher's instructions or students' questions), score the task according to the quality ranges outlined in the manual.

# (6.3b) Do more than two-thirds of students need to perform every thinking task for this behavior to be scored as high?

No. To score this behavior as high, over two-thirds of the class must perform a thinking task at some point during the 15-minute segment. For example, if only one student solves an equation on the board, then all students are asked to complete activities in their books, this would be scored as a high.

#### (6.3c/6.4a) Can thinking tasks be verbal?

Thinking tasks can be offered and completed verbally. For example, after modeling how to construct a sentence using present continuous tense, the teacher asks several students to think of and state their own sentence examples. For example, a student states, "I am reading in class" after which another responds, "I am talking to my friend." This activity would count as performing a thinking task as the student is applying learned techniques to a new task, namely, constructing a sentence using a particular grammatical feature which has been taught in the lesson. (Refer to the thinking task table on page 28 for more examples of thinking tasks.)

If the teacher asks a question, and students answer by repeating knowledge they have learned, it is not considered a thinking task. For example, the teacher may ask, "What is another way we could transform this shape?" If a student says, "We could rotate it," this activity does not count as a thinking task because the student is simply recalling information. Additionally, if a student answers an open-ended question or explains his/her thinking or how s/he solved a problem, these activities are not considered thinking tasks (student explaining is captured in 6.4).

# (6.4b) What if only one student is observed explaining his/her thinking or asking open-ended questions? Is this behavior scored as high?

In respect to students explaining their thinking, a high can still be given if one student is observed giving two explanations, but these instances need to be distinct. For example, if a teacher asks a follow-up question relating to a student's explanation and then the student continues explaining, this sequence is not counted as two instances of student explanation. The student's follow-up explanation is seen as a continuation of the initial explanation and is counted as only one example of explaining. However, if the lesson continues, and the same student explains his/her thinking in a separate instance, then two distinct examples of student explaining should be counted.

In terms of students asking open-ended questions, if one student is observed asking two open-ended questions and the second example is a follow-up open-ended question which builds upon the teacher's or a student's response to the first question, then two instances can be counted and this can be scored as high. This approach also aligns with the scoring guidelines for behavior 6.1, which considers a teacher follow-up open-ended question as a distinct example that should be counted when scoring.

#### (7.1a) Can an open-ended question/task count as providing students with choices?

If the teacher asks an open-ended question, it would likely not count as a choice. An open-ended task could be counted toward the teacher providing students with choices if the teacher's instructions explicitly imply that the teacher intends for students to make a choice. For example, the teacher could say, "Select one of these topics for your essay," or "You can decide which method to use to solve the problem."

#### (7.1b) How do I code this behavior if there is no clear learning objective?

If there is no stated learning objective, or if the objective cannot be inferred from the learning activities, this behavior cannot be scored as high. It is scored as medium if a choice is presented or as low if no choice is presented.

#### (7.3a) What contributes as evidence toward volunteering?

What is captured under this behavior is whether students are volunteering information or simply doing as required in a certain situation. Reciting information in call-and-response fashion or responding in unison to the teacher's questions in a rehearsed or expected fashion (e.g., all students answering "Yes" when the teacher asks, "Do you understand?") does not count as volunteering to participate in the classroom.

Although the example in the manual is "students raise their hand," students are also volunteering information when they answer questions without being called upon. Therefore, even if they do not raise their hand, if most students volunteer answers in response to the teacher's questions, this behavior is still scored as high. For example, the teacher may ask, "Who knows the answer?" If most students call out their responses (with or without raising their hand, e.g., "The answer is 5!"), then this behavior is scored as high; if only a few students answer, it is scored as medium. Note, most students need to volunteer throughout the class to be scored as high.

#### (8.1) What is the difference between acknowledging students' effort (8.1) and using positive language (1.2)?

Acknowledging students' effort includes comments that focus specifically on the work and effort of the student, not the outcome or a student's intelligence. While acknowledging students' effort may also count as positive language, a comment that constitutes positive language does not necessarily constitute acknowledging students' effort. For example, "You have made so much progress in algebra! I can tell you have been practicing!" is a comment that counts toward positive language and acknowledging students' effort. "Good job! You are so fast at solving algebraic equations!" is an example of positive language, but it does not count toward acknowledging students' effort, as it is focused on the outcome.

#### (8.2a) If no mistake is observed, how can I tell the teacher's attitude toward challenges?

As the 3 choices are low, medium, and high, the teacher's attitude will always fit into 1 of those 3 categories. Any question could be a challenge to students, so watching the teacher throughout the segment should provide enough information to code this behavior. If the teacher has a neutral attitude, does not get angry/impatient, does not scold or penalize students for making mistakes, and does not seem annoyed or display another form of negativity, the behavior is scored as medium. It is important to take cultural differences into consideration (as for 1.1).

# (8.2b) In scoring the teacher's positive attitude toward students' challenges, should I consider the "best" incident or the average over the course of the segment?

For this behavior, observers should consider the average attitude of the teacher over the course of the segment.

For example, the teacher might show a positive attitude toward students' challenges when a student makes a mistake and the teacher says, "It's okay, we're learning." However, if besides that isolated incident the teacher consistently and explicitly scolds or becomes impatient with students, this behavior is scored as low or as medium (depending on the balance of incidents over the segment). If no clear indications of a negative attitude arise, however, one instance of a positive attitude is enough to mark the score for this behavior as high.

# (9.2) How could a teacher promote perspective taking, empathizing, emotion regulation, and social problem solving?

An example of perspective taking is: A student gets upset because his classmates excluded him from an activity. The teacher encourages perspective taking by explaining to the student that his classmates might not have known that he wanted to join in the game, then encouraging him to ask them if he could participate.

An example of empathizing is: When a student says the incorrect answer and her classmates laugh, the teacher promotes empathy by saying, "Don't laugh; remember that we all get answers wrong sometimes, and we are all here to learn."

An example of emotion regulation is: When a student is nervous presenting to the class, the teacher promotes emotion regulation by saying, "It's okay to feel nervous when we stand up in front of the class but remember each time you try it gives you more confidence. So let's try by taking a deep breath, and remember I am here to help you," thereby providing strategies and support for the student to deal with his/her emotions.

An example of social problem solving is: There is a problem between two students. The teacher encourages social problem solving by acknowledging the issue, recognizing students' emotions, and suggesting they brainstorm a solution together. The teacher may also intentionally model interpersonal skills. For example, the teacher may demonstrate how to stand up to a bully.

#### What if I still have a question?

Read, read, <u>read</u> the manual and these FAQs. If your question remains unanswered, ask your trainer or email <u>teach@worldbank.org</u>. It is much better to address your question than to make an assumption and incorrectly code an observation segment.



Contact us at teach@worldbank.org and visit us at www.worldbank.org/en/topic/education/brief/teach-secondaryhelping-countries-track-and-improve-teaching-quality

